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IntroDUCTION 

Many years ago I wrote the story of my father’s side of our family tree, and gave it the title of 

“Leaves on the Tree”. Parallel with that story was “Moore Anecdotes”, a similar history of 

my grandmother – his mother. 
 

One person was missing. One great-uncle, Thomas Hutchinson Clark, grandfather Herbert H 

Clark’s big brother. No-one, it seemed, knew anything of him except that he had gone to 

America a long time ago. And there are no more Clarks in Australia who are related. I started 

searching worldwide on the internet.  
 

One person from the US kindly responded – Richard Jeffrey Warren (birth name Thomas 

Clark). A man of unstinting kindness, he “welcomed me aboard” and the nucleus of another 

story was soon underway. Following the tree theme, I called it “The Branch Spread Wide”. 

Time went on, the story expanded as Rick introduced me, electronically, to more of my 

second cousins in the USA. 
 

And then suddenly, sadly, one of those other kind folk let me know that Rick had passed 

away just that morning, in hospital, in mid February, 2022. I was shocked and saddened. And 

how could I hug extended family members from sixteen thousand kilometres away? 
 

So what began as a history has become something of a memorial to Rick. Thank you, Richard 

Jeffrey Warren... without your first response on the net, would I have ever found the other 

descendants of my great-uncle Tom? Thank you all for the information you shared with me – 

to Stephen, to Charles, Carol Anne, John K, John Hutchison, Carolyn  ... the list goes on. 
 

I hope you all enjoy the fruits of my shared labour of love. 

 

 

Wendy Baker (nee Clark) 

2/1 Graham Street 

Victor Harbor, South Australia 5211 

 

November, 2022. 
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THE BRANCH SPREAD WIDE 

my LOST great-uncle REDISCOVERED IN THE USA 

Chapter 1 = TOM’S PARENTS, &THEIR FAMILY background 

 

My grandfather Herbert Hinde Clark had four siblings and in 2002 when I was researching 

the background to my late father’s family story, Leaves on the Tree, I was able to find out 

many things about Herb’s family – except any details about his big brother Thomas 

Hutchinson Clark.  
 

I was not overly-concerned at that stage – after all, being able to verify four out of five 

children in one family is a good result by family history standards. Many years ago I made 

enquiries of my grandmother but I made the mistake of simply accepting her perfunctory 

statement: “Oh – apparently that brother went to America as a young man and was never 

heard from again.” I promptly dropped poor Thomas from my mind. 
 

Time rolled on. We eventually published Leaves on the Tree on our family history website, 

https://www.familytreemandvbaker.com/  Since then however the “missing brother” started 

to niggle – I like things neatly sorted, recorded and completed, not only for the coming 

generations to see when (and if) they become interested, but for my own satisfaction.  
 

I started back-tracking over the Clark family – and the Smiths, with whom they intermarried. 

My great-grandfather Robert William Clark was born on the 11
th

 November 1859 in the 

village of Barnard Castle, Teesdale, in the Counties of Durham and York, England. His 

parents were Thomas Clark (born in 1829) and Mary Ann Simonetta (1832), both from 

Startforth, Teesdale, North Yorkshire. The Clarks go back many, many years, into the 1700’s, 

in the same village and according to the various census returns were all in the allied trades of 

cartwrights, wheelwrights, or carpenters etc. 

 

 

Great-grandfather's original Certificate of Registry of Birth in England – 11th November 1859 (Crown Copyright) 

https://www.familytreemandvbaker.com/
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There was some confusion in the records as to whether Mary Ann was a Simonetta, a 

Simonette or a Simonetti, and I was amazed at the number, appearing in all official and 

church records, of both spellings. It was not the unusual name I had thought! Even Robert 

William Clark appears in different documents as either Clarke or Clark – and perhaps that 

depended on the “clerk” who wrote the name.  

 

I remember my mother when in a jocular mood saying to my dad, the next Robert William 

Clark down the direct descendant line, “come on Clarkey, that sounds a bit of a Furphy” 

when he told a tall story, so perhaps she was poking fun at the fact that Dad was adamant he 

was Clark without an “e”. Also, my father was always known as Bill, not Robert William. 

 

When just a young lad my great-

grandfather worked in England for the 

London and Midlands railways at the 

carriage works but by 1878 something 

inspired him to up-stakes, leave the 

little village, his job and his family, 

and sail alone to South Australia on the 

Garonne. Was he lured by brighter 

prospects and a government-assisted 

journey out? On his arrival in 

September he immediately started 

work for the Mellor farm implement 

company in Adelaide, but after only 

three days he joined the South Australian Locomotive Department, where at Port Wakefield 

as a nineteen year old ‘waggon builder’ at 8 shillings and 6 pence per day he fitted up the 

first narrow gauge railway bogie assembled in South Australia.  

 

 
 

 

 

Bridge End, castle walls. (Photos courtesy Steve Clark 2013) 

SS Garonne, (courtesy SA Maritime Museum 

Museum)  
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Showing the relevant part of our state of South Australia, with the three major 

peninsulas, the “Limestone Coast” of the south-east, and the yellow-lined border with 

Victoria and New South Wales.  The South-East extends in that direction from Keith to 

the bottom of the map. The towns mentioned in the text are Kingston SE, Naracoorte, 

Beachport and Mount Gambier. There are no longer any railway lines in the area. 

Adelaide includes the suburbs of Brighton and Maylands, also in the text, and the 

writer’s home town is Victor Harbor. 
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On 25 July 1879 he transferred to Rivoli Bay “Line or Station” in the South-East of SA, 

maintaining the same pay and position of “waggon builder”. On 1 August 1880 his pay rose 

to ten shillings per day, according to State Records (SAR GRG42/131, SAR Staff Registers 

Vol.1P.119).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   GRG42/131 SAR Staff Registers Vol.1 P.119 

 

 

The new railway network in the South-East was rapidly expanding and my great-randfather’s 

career was up and running. The town of Beachport had only come into existence on 21 

November, 1878; the first train on the new railway from there to Mount Gambier arrived on 

26 January, 1878. So my great-grandfather was in the South-East right at the beginning of the 

expansion of rail services. 

Three years later in 1881 this young man’s life would change forever.                       

 

 

*********** 

 

 

In the meantime, in 1807, James Henry Smith was born in Shepton Mallet, Iron Acton (a few 

kilometres north-east of Bristol), England. Twenty one years later he married Mary Chaplin 

Strode in the same village in 1828. They produced six children, the last born in 1840, and 

then Mary died in January 1843.  

 

With his youngest child 3 years old, and his eldest only 12, James lost no time remarrying. 

Hester Gainer and he “tied the knot” just five months later, in May of that year, which 

ensured that his large brood would be cared for. Hester and James soon produced in about 
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1844 the first child of their union, Sarah Anne. Unfortunately she died, but they had two 

more, Esther Emily, about 1845 and Samuel James in March 1848. 
 

What made James and Hester decide to come to South Australia? Economic climate in their 

home territory? Health reasons? The opportunity to make a new start in a new land? From 

this distance in time, who knows?  

 

The Smiths, with their eight children, arrived aboard the 3-masted Surge after what must have 

been an exhausting voyage – leaving England on 13
th

 February and not arriving at Port 

Adelaide’s North Arm until 1
st
 June, 1852. They soon moved from Adelaide to Brighton 

where directories listed James as “Wheelwright, Brighton”, but he filled many roles in the 

local community. 

 

We know little about seven of the eight children. But John Henry Smith is the most relevant 

to our family story. He was 15 years old when his parents and siblings arrived here in 1852 

on the Surge and only 20 years old when he married Sarah Hinde, who had emigrated on the 

Medina in 1852. John was noted as a “minor” on the marriage certificate, being under 21 

years, and she was five years his senior. John’s occupation was “wheelwright, Brighton”.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Henry Smith & Sarah Hinde were married 4 June 1857 at St Jude’s Church of 

England, Brighton SA.  As the parents’ residence was given as “Brighton” on the marriage 

certificate, it is safe to assume that John and Sarah moved to Kingston, most probably while 

Sarah was pregnant, at some point between their marriage in June 1857 and the birth of their 

first child in Kingston SE ten months later in 1858. (Sarah was still living in Kingston twenty 

years later when their daughter Mary Elizabeth married in January 1878.) 

 

Three more children followed for John and Sarah after Mary Elizabeth was born on 19 Apr 

1858 in Lacepede Bay, Kingston SE – Annie Jane McEwen Smith b.28
 
Feb 1860, Emily 

Louise Smith b.4 June 1863 and Hester Helena Smith b.18 Oct 1864. 

 

Baby Hester Helena died in 1866 at about two years of age. 

 

Marriage of John Henry Smith to Sarah Hinde, 4th June 1857 at St Jude’s, Brighton, South 

Australia. Original certificate (Courtesy of Ian Masters) 
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I have been unable to discover any information about the Smith family in the children’s 

growing years. However, when the children were in their teens (although that term may not 

have been in use at the time) tragedy struck the whole family. 

 

John Henry Smith died suddenly, leaving behind his children Mary Elizabeth 18 years, Annie 

Jane 16, and Emily Louise, 13. His wife Sarah was left a widow in her mid-forties.  

 

The Certificate of Death, taken from microfiche (p.2/17, Bk.1, 1875-1894) State Death 

Registrations Index for the District of Wellington, states that John Henry Smith, male, aged 

39 years, a wheelwright, usual residence Kingston, died at Kingston 25 October 1876. 

“Drowned in a well” was the cause of death and the informant was an Edward Fou(w)ler, a 

carpenter, in the same town. The entry was made by William Lyon in the District Register of 

Wellington six days after the drowning. 

 

 His death would have been tragedy enough for his family, but the Coroner’s verdict given in 

the 1876 Police Gazette, was particularly poignant. It reads “ … on the 25
th

 ultimo by J. Cook 

JP on the body of John Henry Smith. Verdict: Deceased came by his death by throwing 

himself down a well whilst in a fit of temporary insanity.”  

Copy of Birth Register entry for my great-grandmother 

Annie Jane McEwen Smith, born (we think, though the 

entry is difficult to read) 27 Mar 1860. It was signed on 

the 30 Mar. 
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What could have led John to take his own life on the 25
th

 October, 1876? “A fit of temporary 

insanity” was a conclusion often arrived at in those times by Coroners because the victim, 

being “temporarily insane” could not be held accountable for what would be deemed self-

murder if the suicide attempt failed.  

 

Whatever John’s reason for suicide, it must have had a devastating and bewildering effect on 

his family. But time moved on. 

 

*************** 

 

Almost five years later, on the 10
th

 January 1881, the Smith family married into the Clark(e) 

family when 20 year old Annie Jane McEwen Smith (Domestic servant) married Robert 

William Clark (Carpenter). It is interesting that one of the witnesses, George Hiscock an 

engineman, was from “Gambiertown” – the name of a private settlement which later became 

the town of Mt Gambier in the south-east of South Australia. Although the certificate states 

“married in the District of Victoria”, the SA Marriage Index puts the registration place as 

Grey.  

 

The third witness, Sarah Smith, would more than likely have been Annie’s mother, and the 

marriage took place at the residence of W. Stuart, Beachport (in the South-east of South 

Australia).  I have tried to find such a name and residence, but so far without any success.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

My great-grandparents’ first baby was born in Beachport in 1883, two years into their 

marriage and only five years after the little town had first been surveyed. By 1884 Beachport 

boasted only 247 people and 55 houses! Transport was by daily Hill & Co. Coach, or a twice 

weekly steamboat on Wednesdays and Fridays. Adding to the population of the rapidly 

growing town, Emily Olivia Clark arrived on the 15
th

 February. A well-spaced two and a 

quarter years later Thomas Hutchinson Clark, focus of our story, was born 30
th

 May 1885, 

and baptised 12
th

 July. 

Original Marriage Cert. of Robert William Clark & Annie Jane McEwen Smith, 10th January 1881 
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12 July 1885, Baptism certificate of Thomas Hutchinson Clark 

 

 

 

SAR GRG42/131, SAR Staff Registers Vol.3A Pg.30 
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My grandfather, 

Herbert Hinde, was 

another May baby born 

on the 15
th

 of that month 

in 1888. Ada Clarice 

followed a little less 

than three years later – 

she was an early 

Christmas gift on 8
th

 

December 1890.  

 

The last of the children, 

William Clarence, after 

an interval of just over 

two years, was a late 

New Year’s gift on the 

6
th

 January, 1893.  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 
Two photos of the Rivoli Bay 

railway at Beachport, South 

Australia, perhaps at the time 

when Robert William Clark 

was employed there as a 

“waggon builder”.  He was 

promoted to Naracoorte 

station as a “carpenter” (page 

11). Photos courtesy Beachport 

Railway Museum. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The family appears, like great-grandfather himself, to have been neatly organised! Robert had 

even received a pay rise on the 4
th

 January 1893, from ten shillings and sixpence to eleven 

shillings per day as a carpenter at Naracoorte station, just two days before William’s birth. 

 

However, tragedy was about to overtake them. 

 

*********** 
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On the 30
th

 March 1893, when baby William Clarence Clark was just eleven weeks old and 

none of his four siblings older than ten years, his mother Annie – my great-grandmother – 

died.  

 

Cause of death was stated as “influenza” on the certificate and the duration of illness “two 

days”. The mother of five was only 33 years old. 

 

CLARKE, ANNIE JAN MCEWEN 

Surname  Clarke   

Given Names  Annie Jan McEwen   

Cemetery  Naracoorte 

Last Residence  Naracoorte 

Age at Death  33 

Date of Interment  01/04/1893 

Minister Officiating  Reverend Alfred Wheeler 

Burial/Order Number  306 

https://www.naracoortelucindale.sa.gov.au/page.aspx?u=616&c-=43770  

Above: From Naracoorte Lucindale Council records, 2018. Note incorrect name “Jan” instead of “Jane” 

              

 

30 March 1893 – Copy of Death Certificate of Annie Jane McEwen Clark  (nee Smith) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page in Smith family bible 

https://www.naracoortelucindale.sa.gov.au/page.aspx?c=240
https://www.naracoortelucindale.sa.gov.au/page.aspx?u=616&c-=43770
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And so Annie’s life sadly ended. Her burial was in the peaceful Naracoorte Cemetery, 

(below); her name (incorrectly written “Jan”) recorded at the entrance, although unfortunately 

no trace remains of her grave. “Margt. Emily” and “Caroline” are unrelated. 

 

 
 

 

 

 
************* 

 

CHAPTER 2 – FAMILY CARE 
 

What an appalling calamity for the Clark – and Smith – families. Hard enough for a woman 

in those times to be widowed with children afoot – but the woman was deemed the natural 

nurturer of her brood. How much more difficult must it have been for a father – my great-

grandfather Robert William Clark(e), sole provider of family income, to be suddenly left with 

five children including a baby of eleven weeks! How could he, in 1893, care for his children 

and go on earning a living? 

 

The Clark children’s mother, Annie Jane 

McEwen (nee Smith), had three siblings. 

Mary Elizabeth, born 19 April 1858, 

married Charles Shearer Garvie in 1878 

and within eleven months bore him the 

first of their eight children. They named 

their last-born child, a daughter, born 5 

March 1899, Annie Jane in memory of 

Mary’s sister who had died on the 30
th

 

March six years previously.  

 

Naracoorte Cemetery, 

2018 (Photo, W. Baker)  

Mary Elizabeth Garvie (nee Smith) b.1858 at Lacepede Bay, 

Kingston SE, South Australia. 
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Mary Charlotte Garvie, the sixth of the eight children, was eighteen when she married a 

gentleman with the rather distinguished-sounding name of Oliver Octavius Rolland (or 

Rolland?) Miels on the 9
th

 May, 1910. This may sound a little distant from our story of 

Thomas Hutchinson Clark, but the name is possibly relevant. Mary and Oliver had four 

children. The last, born in 1919, was Joan Mary Miels. Joan, in turn, married Herbert Laslett 

and they had two children, Suzanne and Richard. 

 

It is to Suzanne Laslett that I am indebted for virtually all the information that I have about 

Annie Jane McEwen’s sisters.  The Relationship Calculator on the Personal Ancestry File 

family tree program which I use, states: “Wendy Robyn BAKER (nee CLARK) and Suzanne 

LASLETT are 3rd cousins.  Their common ancestors are John Henry SMITH and Sarah HINDE.” 

 

After I “discovered” Suzanne on the internet, she 

kindly wrote to me. “Annie Jane McEwin [sic] Clark 

(nee Smith) was my grandmother’s aunt. I know my 

Nanna [Mary Elizabeth Garvie (nee Smith)] used to 

visit her cousin, Bill [William Clarence] Clark, and 

as a child, I stayed with Clarice, (another of Nanna’s 

cousins) who was living with her aunt, Min (Emily 

Louise Smith) at Verdun. My mother [Joan Mary 

Miels] said Min looked after the Clark children after 

Annie Jane died. I don’t have any information on 

Thomas. But I do have a photo of my great 

grandmother, Mary Elizabeth Garvie nee Smith 

[Annie Jane’s sister]. My great aunt Annie Jane Hill 

(nee Garvie) must have been named for your great 

grandmother.” 

 

This note from Suzanne confirms what I had heard spoken of very occasionally in my family; 

my great-grandfather Robert William Clark(e)’s sister-in-law Emily Louise Smith, at the age 

of 30, and single, took on the care of five children under ten years old.  

 

Of the four Smith siblings at that time, Annie Jane was dead, Hester Helena had died in 1866 

as a two year old, according to the family bible inscription, and Mary Elizabeth and her 

husband Charles Shearer Garvie already had seven children of their own.  

 

Emily Louise, the story goes, was engaged to be married to a minister of religion, but with 

no-one else able to step in, she took on the responsibility of raising her sister’s children. What 

a woman she must have been, to deny her own love. Photos of her in old age show a gentle, 

kind-looking white-haired old lady. I loved her, although my family’s visits to her were rare, 

and I have no doubt that my grandfather Herbert (Herb) Hinde Clark, his brothers Thomas 

and William, and sisters Emily Olivia and Clarice Ada, would have loved her too. 

I tried to research school records for the Clark children but discovered just a few records for 

two of them – Emily and Thomas. In 1899 and 1900, I know that Clarice and Herb attended 

“Near Narracoorte” school, because I have seen Sir Walter Scott’s novel “Kenilworth” 

presented to “Herbert Clark, Third Prize, 4
th

 Class – General Improvement. Near 

Narracoorte. A.M. Sharpley, T. Xmas 1899”. Also, Harriet Beecher Stowe’s “Uncle Tom’s 

Cabin” “Presented to Clarice Clark for General Improvement” by Annie Sharpley, head 

teacher, Near Narracoorte, on 21
st
 December, 1900.  

Emily Louise Smith in about 1950, with the 

writer, Wendy Baker (nee Clark), Annie Jane 

McEwen Clark (nee Smith)’s great-grand-

daughter.  
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Emily and Thomas seem to have bounced between Naracoorte and Beachport schools. And 

after their mother’s death there were at least two different male guardians on the admission 

records. By their occupations we could suppose that they may perhaps have been their 

father’s trusted work colleagues. 

 

Ten year old Emily Olivia Clark, Reg. No.G.161, had attended Beachport School since her 

enrolment there in 1888 when the State Records noted she was a “five year old beginning 

school” and her father/guardian was then Robert Clark, Carpenter. The distance from school 

was stated as being two miles, although anything less than two miles in reality was still 

shown as two miles if it was within the town area.  

 

Eight year old Thomas H. Clark, Reg. 

No.B.237,  was admitted to Beachport School, 

(after previously attending Naracoorte School) 

on the 24
th

 January 1893 – shortly before his 

baby brother William Clarence was born and 

not very long before their mother was destined 

to fall ill and die from influenza. A note against 

this school record states that Thomas left 

Beachport School on 30
th

 May 1893. So it 

seems he attended there for only four months. 
Beachport School (Beachport Heritage Survey, 

SA State Records) 

 

Thomas’s sister Emily Olivia, Reg. No. G.262, recommenced at Beachport School on the 14
th

 

December 1894, and her parent/guardian was then George Mackintosh, occupation - line 

repairer. Her previous school was noted as being Naracoorte.  

 

Beachport township c.1879-1900, courtesy Beachport National Trust Museum. Note the Station, employees’ 

accommodation and first school. Jetty on right – did Tom Clark set out for the US (via ports unknown) from here? 
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A later record shows that Thomas, Reg. No. B.265, was re-admitted to Beachport School on 

the 21
st
 January 1895, and apparently stayed there for almost the whole school year until 6

th
 

December 1895, when he left. During this period his parent/guardian was noted as Gilders 

Martin, a contractor by occupation.  

 

Apart from the above I have found no other school records. Robert William Clark(e) changed 

his career direction from Carpenter in the Railways Department, believed to be located at 

Naracoorte, and was paid up to the 8
th

 June 1901 by that department. He was transferred to 

the position of Assistant Inspector of Factories on 10
th

 June 1901 and moved from the state’s 

south east to the suburb of Maylands in Adelaide’s eastern metropolitan area, where Wise’s 

S.A. Post Office Directory of 1903 showed him residing. 

 

 

Record of Robert William Clark's transfer from the Railways to his appointment as Assistant Inspector of Factories, 

10th June 1901 

 

Under the heading “Cause of Change” the notation reads “Increase efficiency – Transferred 

to the Department under the Hon. Minister of Industry he having been appointed Assistant 

Inspector of Factories. (Paid up to the 8
th

 June (19)01 by this Dept.)” 

 

CHAPTER 3 - BRANCHING OUT 
 
In 1903 Robert’s son Thomas Hutchinson went to America as an 18 year old. Did this happen 

during the general movement of the family from the South-East to the metropolitan area?? 

Did he go to seek his fortune overseas rather than stay under the shelter of his maiden aunt?  

Did he, as eldest son in the family, get on well with his father?  

 

And I wonder how Thomas made his way to the US. Was he a paying passenger, or a crew 

member on a passenger or cargo ship? Perhaps he went from Australia to meet his father’s 

family in Bridge End, Startforth in Yorkshire, and from there, to the US. I have been able to 

find only one possible and unverified source for his immigration to that country. 

 

Unfortunately my father was not sufficiently interested in the family history to be able to give 

me any background to his uncle’s departure and in all probability he had no knowledge. All I 

had to go on were those words of my paternal grandmother – “Oh, that brother went to 

America as a young man and was never heard of again.” It begged the question: How could 

someone in my family disappear forever?  
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Luckily we live in the age of the internet.  In 2010 after I had been ‘thrashing around’ on the 

internet on various family history forums, I discovered on “Roots Web” that a Richard 

Warren in the USA was also looking for his ancestors; in time I received an email from him.  

He stated that he believed we were related; that his birth name had been Thomas Clark, and  

his grandfather was Thomas Hutchinson Clark. Richard attached a photo of my great-

grandfather Robert William Clark to which only someone in the family could have had 

access.  As second cousins we began 

corresponding, with Rick sending me copies of 

some family records and me sending him some of 

the details about the Clarks in South Australia.  

 

Rick then asked if he could pass my email address 

to one of his cousins in the USA, one Steve Clark, 

to which I agreed, and before long Steve and I, as 

second cousins, were also corresponding. The 

information exchange grew and in 2018 I also 

received emails from Steve’s older brother by eight 

years, Charles Arthur Clark.  

 

As a relevant aside, I think it is worth noting here 

that towards the end of 2018 our whole family was 

excited to hear that Steve was coming to South 

Australia to visit us. It was a wonderful, if too brief, 

time; Steve was on a personal mission to visit all 

the places where our mutual great-grandparents, and Thomas’s brother Herbert Hinde, had 

lived and died.  

Between my husband John and me, our son and 

daughter and their families, my sister and 

husband, and her daughter and husband, we were 

able to help Steve achieve that mission. In the 

process, particularly during our two day stay in 

the South-East with Steve, I also found a little 

more information about the Naracoorte 

Cemetery, as well as a death notice and a return 

thanks notice concerning Annie Jane’s death, 

from the helpful council office. 
 

But now let’s go back to 1903 and pick up the 

newly-discovered threads of my great-uncle 

Thomas Hutchinson Clark.  
 

I tried to find a ship’s passenger manifest or 

newspaper records of Thomas’s departure from 

Australia, but without knowing what port or state 

he had left from, nor his actual destination, I had 

little success. I presumed that he had entered the 

USA via Ellis Island, the main immigration 

centre – but by what route, what ship, and from 

what port in what country?  
 

 

 

Steve Clark visited South Australia in 2018 & 

found his great-grandfather’s headstone in 

Payneham Cemetery. 

Herbert Hinde Clark, Tom’s brother, in football togs, in 

August 1906. Photo by R.W. Clark(e), his dad.  
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Charles Arthur Clark, wrote in 2018: “In conversations with [my] late father (Elliot), his 

father (Thomas Hutchinson) most likely arrived in the United States some time after the turn 

of the century through Ellis Island NY. I have no clue what ship he would have sailed on; 

however it would be interesting to know. My father did not know much about his father or his 

Clark family history.” 

 

More details were needed – and none were forthcoming from my family in South Australia. 

 

I found, in the “Australia, Inward, Outward & Coastal Passenger Lists 1826-1972 – 

Victoria”,  one Tom Clark, male, single, born 1884, departure port Beachport, ship name 

“Casino”, which arrived at Port Melbourne on 5 May 1902. The birth year is a year too 

earlier than our Tom’s actual birth, and not quite right for our Tom Clark’s arrival in New 

York, but it does make me wonder, as Beachport was (and still is) only a very small town. 

However, I cannot be certain. If this was our Tom, where did he go after arriving in Port 

Melbourne? 

 

A few years ago my first cousin Ian Masters, from Mildura in Victoria, Australia, was in 

South Australia visiting one of his two sisters to tidy up the effects of his late mother Clarice 

Lucy Masters (nee Clark) who died in 2010. She was my late father’s sister. Ian came to our 

house with a big cardboard box full of family records! “You’re welcome to keep most of this 

stuff,” he said. “I’m concentrating on the Masters history and haven’t the time to deal with 

both.”  

 

It was so exciting to sit down and carefully go through the contents of that box. One 

photographic postcard of my grandfather Herbert Hinde Clark, and its message on the back, 

suddenly turned the missing Thomas Hutchinson from a name into a real person – Tom, a 

brother missed, worried about and loved. 

 
And what the letter on the back of the postcard revealed. 
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Herbert, born in 1888, would have been 18 when he wrote this brief but telling postcard to his 

brother Thomas on 16 Aug 1906.  

 

It appears to have been postmarked 26 Sep. and he wrote: 

 

“Hope this finds you quite well. What do you think of me in My football togs father took me. 

We are all quite well and we have got a Piano now so we have some music. R Abbott was 

asking about you last night he is not at Metters now. Hoping you are quite well and happy – I 

remain Your Loving Brother Herb. I am anxiously waiting for a letter brother xx” 

I now know that Grandpa played footy (what a cute uniform!) and that his father was an able 

photographer. That the family enjoyed music and had been able to get a piano. It mentions 

another relative by marriage, R. Abbott, whom I had previously known that he worked for 

Metters. And twice in the letter Herb hoped his brother was well, and he was anxious to hear 

news of him. 

 

He addressed it to “Mr. T H Clark 

S.S. Snt Helens 

C/- Cunco (Cuneo?) Trading Coy 

8-10-12 Jay Street 

New York 

USA” 

 

As can be seen, a note in the top left of the postcard states “Left the ship” and another 

address has been written in red: “J.M. Ceballos & Co, 27 William St, City” 

 

According to the “San Francisco Call”, Volume 100, Number 133, 11 October 1906, 

J. M. Ceballos & Co. (in red writing) were bankers and merchants which were assigned in 

October 1906 following the “defalcation and absconding” of a debtor to the tune of a million 

dollars, but it was hoped that the company had sufficient assets to be able to resume trading. 

 

The term “defalcation” according to the Cambridge English Dictionary is the “the taking or 

illegal use of money by someone who has responsibility for it, such as a company or 

government”. 

  

Needless to say, I could find no more information about Thomas’s whereabouts from this 

source! 

 

The only reference I have been able to find to SS St Helens indicates that it was an Irish cargo 

steamship built in 1901 and lost by fire in 1932. However there is more than one ship of this 

name. 

 

It seems generally agreed, although not definitively verified, that Thomas arrived in New 

York in 1903, possibly through Ellis Island. Richard (Rick) Warren sent me the photo below; 

to the best of our knowledge it is Thomas. 

 

By whichever means Thomas arrived in the USA, we know from copies of documents, 

(including pages in a family bible) kindly sent from Charles and Richard, together with 

information from Steve Clark and from census records, that on the 5
th

 August 1908 Thomas 

Hutchinson Clark, born 30 May 1885 married Caroline Van Pelt, born 24 April 1890.  
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           Thomas Hutchinson Clark 1885-1918.  

 Photo courtesy Richard J Warren(birth name Thomas Clark) 

  

 

Although at the 

time of writing I 

have been unable 

to find a marriage 

certificate, the 

photocopied entry 

in the Van Pelt 

family bible 

shows very 

clearly at the 

bottom right 

corner of the 

“Marriages” page 

– “Carrie Van 

Pelt to Thomas H. 

Clark Aug.5 – 

1908”. 

 

 

 

 

 
 “Marriages” page 

of the Van Pelt 

family bible 

(courtesy Charles A. 

Clark) 

 

Caroline Van Pelt 1890-1924  

Photo, c.1917, courtesy Charles Clark 
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Caroline, born April 1890, was one of eleven children born to Elliot Walker Van Pelt, born 

July 1852 in Matewan, New Jersey, and Mary Elizabeth Eaton, who were married 19
th

 July 

1873 in Manhattan, New York. (Source: https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/1:1:244R-

BSB ) 

 

 
 

Birth Registration of Carrie Van Pelt (courtesy Charles A. Clark) 

 

In the 3
rd

 & 5
th

 June 1905 New Jersey State Census, Hoboken, Schedule 1 – Population,  

Caroline Van Pelt appears along with some of her siblings – Arline b.June 1881, Eunice 

b.May 1884, Frederick b.July 1887, Ida Virginia b.July 1891 and Milton b.May 1898, and 

Arthur. At that time seven of the eleven children were living, although only six were 

enumerated on census day. 

 

 

 

 

https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/1:1:244R-BSB
https://www.familysearch.org/ark:/61903/1:1:244R-BSB
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The US Thirteenth Census of 1910, for 

the population of the State of New 

York, County of Rensselaer, was held 

in April of that year. 

 

The U.S. Thirteenth Census of 

1910 showed Thomas H. Clark as 

the Head, aged 25 at the last 

birthday, and Caroline Clark as 

his Wife, aged 19 at her last 

birthday. They had been married 

for one year at the time of the 

Census. Thomas’s occupation 

shown (as are several on the page) 

was “ironer – collar factory”, his 

year of immigration to the United 

States was 1904, and his 

“nativity” was “Australian – 

English”. 

 
A page from a Sears catalogue of the time when Thomas would  

have been employed in the industry, one of some 15,000 employees  

in the collar industry in Troy – working in more than half a dozen 

 vast factories. Source: rensselaer.nygenweb.net 
 

 

Not far below this entry, there is another Van Pelt family, the head being a Charles Van Pelt 

(one of Caroline’s sisters) and his wife, Mary E. Van Pelt, with a nine year old son and two 

daughters, Anastasia, seven years, and Virginia F., aged four.   
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[At that time there were dozens of shirt collar and cuff manufacturers in Rensselaer, 

employing thousands of workers both male and female. These were detached collars and 

cuffs, fashionable from the 1800’s right through to the early 1900’s, the shirts being made 

independently.]  

 

Rensselaer, New York, is located in up-state New York near Albany, on the near east side of 

the Hudson River, west of the New York, Vermont/Massachusetts borders. 
 

Some time between 1910 and 1911 Thomas and Carrie moved to Springfield Massachusetts, 

on the eastern bank of the Connecticut River near its confluence with the western Westfield 

River, the eastern Chicopee River, and the eastern Mill River. Thomas is recorded as working 

as a “teamster” after moving to Spring Field. 
 

There was a third person enumerated for the household in 1910, and that was Thomas’s 

sister-in-law Virginia Van Pelt, aged 17 who also worked in the collar factory as a “folder”. 

 

With reference to Tom’s possible arrival in the US, my 2
nd

 cousin Steve Clark sent me a 

ship’s manifest for the SS Oceanic sailing from Liverpool, UK on 20 May 1903.It contains an 

entry for a Thomas Clark, single, aged 18, a farm labourer, whose last residence was 

Wainfleet (near Ontario, Canada) and ultimate destination was Fairbury, Illinois, USA. Could 

this have been “our” Tom? The nationality was given as British, although Tom was born in 

Australia, but that could have been the thinking at the time. And there is one other point – the 

single gent above Thomas’s name on the list came from Teesdale, as did Tom’s father. A 

whimsical thought is that two young men from a similar background went together on a 

grand adventure overseas? Unfortunately, it remains just that – whimsy! 
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CHAPTER 4 – starting a new family 

 
 

Thomas and Caroline named their first child Robert William Clark Jnr, (presumably in 

honour of Thomas’s father back home in South Australia) when he was born 28 August 1911 

in Springfield, Massachusetts. 

 

On the reverse of the postcard photo of little Robert we 

see that it was addressed to Miss E. Smith, Frederick 

St. Maylands. The brief note read “Robert William 

Clark age 14 mths. To Aunt Emma from Tom and 

Carrie.” Looking carefully, the “a” in Emma seems 

almost an afterthought, as though the writer wasn’t 

quite certain whether to write Emma or Emily or just 

plain Emm. She was Thomas’s aunt, and baby 

Robert’s great-aunt. The postcard was in my father’s 

sister’s effects and given me by cousin Ian Masters. 

 

The note also clearly shows that Thomas was known 

as Tom to his family; it suddenly seems to bring him 

much closer to me. There is no postmark, so perhaps 

the card was originally sent inside an envelope long 

since lost, but the age of 14 months puts the time of 

writing at about October 1912. 

 

In a timeline context, this was six months after the 

sinking of the Titanic in the North Atlantic. Life has a 

way of helping balance the books. Lives lost at sea, but 

everywhere new parents were starting big families. 

 

 

Robert William Clark Jnr aged 14 months  

Photo courtesy Ian Masters. 
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My great-grandfather Robert William Clark(e) purchased this house at 88 Frederick St, 

Maylands, (an Edwardian villa built 1904) in 1908. He lived there until 1911, the year his 

namesake grandson was born. I understand Emily Louise Smith, to whom the postcard photo 

of the baby was sent, also lived there. [Emily’s middle name appears as ‘Louisa’ on some 

documents.] 

 

 

 

On the 5 Mar 1913, Tom and 

Carrie’s second child, Thomas 

Hutchinson Clark Jnr. was born, 

also in Springfield, Massachusetts, 

but I have no childhood 

photographs of any of the children 

except baby Robert.  The couple’s 

third child was Elliot John Clark, 

born the following year on 21 Jun 

1914. His birth certificate states his 

father Tom’s occupation as 

“teamster”. 

 

 
  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Copy of Record of Birth of Elliot John Clark Sr.,  

Thomas Hutchinson Clark’s third son,  

born 21 Jun 1914. Courtesy Charles A Clark. 

No. 88 Frederick St, Maylands, SA, in 2018. Carefully restored in recent years. 

R.W. Clarke sold the house in 1920. 
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In about 1914 Tom and Carrie returned to New York where Tom worked for McAllister 

Towing & Transportation on the New York canal system.  

 

Tom and Carrie’s daughters were Arline born 23 September 1916 in Bronx and finally 

Caroline Mildred 22 Apr 1918 in Bronx. The couple’s family was complete and Tom was 

doing well in his job. He was described as a tug/barge Captain in some records. The company 

is still in existence, but despite extensive archival enquiries it appears there are no employee 

records available for that period, more than a century ago. 

 

Various photos of the time show the barges and lighters were big, cumbersome, and heavily 

laden with their cargoes, including huge loads of coal, on the waterways in all weathers from 

summer heat to winter snow and ice. The environment was potentially dangerous. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The global situation was also terrible during that time – the deadly influenza pandemic of 

1918 would infect 500 million globally and kill an estimated 50 million. Closer to home, 

Carrie’s brother Milton E. Van Pelt enlisted in the U.S. Army in about September 1917, for 

that was the year the United States entered World War I to join its allies Britain, France and 

Russia. Another brother, Fred, had enlisted in May. With her brothers in action in France, 

their welfare must have been an ever-present background worry for Carrie and her family. 
 

And then came the horrific incident that would start to unravel the family at that time. 

 

 

CHAPTER 5 – FAMILY IN CRISIS 
 

In the words of the Medical Officer, Dr. Tong, in his Report of Death of Tom, “about a 

month ago while at work on his boat his foot became entangled in a wire cable and he 

suffered a compound dislocation at the ankle – he has been in the hospital since – infection 

developed in the joint – he was taken to the operating room to have a pus pocket cleaned out 

and died during the operation.” 

In 1917 -1918 Thomas Hutchinson Clark worked on the barges and lighters 

of the New York Canal system. He was employed by McAllister Towing. 

Unfortunately, no employee records remain from that period. 

 

Below is the URL to the history of the company. The time-relevant 

section of their history is quoted below, along with the company logo. 

https://www.mcallistertowing.com/about-mcallister/history/ 

 
 

 

https://www.mcallistertowing.com/about-mcallister/history/
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Tom died on the 6
th

 June, 1918 at the 

Long Island College Hospital. The family 

was living at 703 West End Ave, New 

York.   

 

His wife is recorded as identifying his 

body. I am concerned about the name 

given as that of his wife – Anna. Tom’s 

wife’s name was Caroline. His mother, 

who had died in 1893, was recorded as 

Anna Smith (her maiden name) on the 

Report of Death.  

 

Was this a mistake by the person writing 

the Report? Perhaps, having just written 

“Anna” in the line above, that name 

instead of “Caroline” was inadvertently 

repeated below on the Certificate of Death 

under “Identified by”. 

 

 First page of Report of Death of Thomas H. Clark 

 

 
Second page of Report of Death  
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                                                  Death Certificate of Thomas Hutchinson Clark, dated 7 Jun 1918 

 

 

The above report, and the Certificate of Death noted “Chronic endocarditis” as well as the 

compound dislocation of the ankle joint as the cause of death. Endocarditis can be caused by 

a faulty heart, or by infection.  

 

Given that many of the Clarks suffered heart problems that caused their early deaths, this 

could well have been the case for Tom – or perhaps the infection from his smashed ankle 

caused or exacerbated this bacterial condition. In 1918 there were no life-saving intravenous 

antibiotic treatments. 
 

What a terrible blow Tom’s death must have been for Carrie and their five children who must 

have already suffered with him as he languished in hospital for four weeks before he died. 

 

Richard Warren, one of my four second cousins with whom I corresponded for some twelve 

years, wrote in 2010 “My maternal grand-father Thomas Hutchinson Clark died June 6th 

1918.He was a barge capt. working for McAllister Towing (still in business) in N.Y.C. and 

died of gangrene in Long Island City College after an accident on the barge. Have death cert. 

Last address was 430 e.154th St. N.Y.C. searching for death notice/obit. Geo. F. Lynch was 

the undertaker. Buried in Woodlawn Cemetery."  

 

Back in South Australia, two months after the event, Tom’s father received the dreadful news 

of his son’s death. The Express and Telegraph (Adelaide SA:1867-1922) reported on Page 1 

on Thursday 29
th

 August 1918 the following: (Source: 

http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/rendition/nla.news-article209722958)  

http://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/rendition/nla.news-article209722958
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“DEATH OF CAPTAIN CLARK Mr. R. W. Clark (Senior - Inspector of -Factories) has 

received information from America that his son, Captain Thomas Hutchinson Clark, who was 

in charge of a freight lighter, died on June 6, as the result of an accident. He was hoisting 

freight when a rope slipped and severed one of his feet at the ankle. The accident happened 

on March 5, and the sufferer was taken to a hospital, where he remained till his death. A 

widow and five children are left. Captain Clark was well known and highly-respected in 

South Australia.” 

 

 

The above notice also appeared in The [Adelaide] Advertiser on the 30
th

 August and in the 

[South Australian] Chronicle on 7
th

 September. 

 

Then, as now, press reports were not 

always exactly accurate. The death 

certificate clearly stated a compound 

dislocation of the ankle, which is not quite 

the same as “severed one of his feet at the 

ankle.”  

 

My great-grandfather Robert William 

Clark, Tom’s father, lived in a “Victorian 

villa” style house at 8 Dover St, Maylands, 

South Australia, which he had purchased 

in July, 1911. (Since council’s realignment 

of street numbering, it is now 20 Dover 

Street.)   

 

Who imparted the tragic news of Tom’s 

death to Robert here in South Australia – 

was it a visit from the police, or perhaps a 

telegram from Tom’s widow? I do not 

know. But it must have been a sad time for 

him, and also for Emily Smith, Robert’s 

sister-in-law – the aunt who had cared for 

her five nephews and nieces, and to whom 

the photo of Tom’s first child had been sent 

in 1912.   

 

Back in New York, Tom’s widow Carrie was left with her five children and her grief. Her 

eldest, Robert William Jr, was seven years old; Thomas Hutchinson Jr. was five; Elliot John, 

four; Arline was a two year old and baby Caroline Mildred had been born only three months 

before her father died. Carrie and her children lived with Carrie’s parents, Elliot and Mary 

Elizabeth van Pelt at No. 426 East 151st Street, Bronx NY.  

 

Only about six weeks after her husband’s death, Carrie and her parents were dealt another 

tragic blow – her brother, Private Milton Van Pelt, at the age of 20, was killed in action in 

France in the horror of WWI. Carrie received the War Department telegram – both her 

parents were ill in bed at the time. Milton had only recently sent home a cheerful letter, so 

what a shock the telegram must have been. 

8 Dover St, Maylands, South Australia. Built 

c.1883 as a Victorian villa. Robert William Clark(e) 

bought the house in July, 1911, and lived there until his 

death in 1922, when it became his son Herbert’s until 

he sold it in 1925. 
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The headlines in “Evening World”, Wednesday July 17, 

1918, Page 3, under “American War News”, declared in 

bold print “KILLED IN FRANCE SAME DAY FATHER 

WAS 66 YEARS OLD”. 

(https://www.newspapers.com/clip/15528309/the-

evening-world/ ) 

 

 

In 2018 I found on the internet the details of Pte. 

Milton’s burial.  
(www.interment.net › France › Aisne Marne American 

Cemetery) 

 
He is at peace in Aisne Marne American Cemetery 

Belleau, France, Rue des Chevaliers de Colomb, 02400 

Belleau, France. 
 

“VAN PELT, Milton E., Death: 1918-07-02, Private First 

Class, 23rd Infantry Regiment, 2nd Division, State of 

Enlistment: New York, Plot: A, Row: 1, Grave: 13, U.S. 

Army, World 

War I” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pte. Milton’s headstone is the one in the 

foreground. Unfortunately the quality is poor, but 

his name can just be seen with a magnifier. 

 

Her other brother, Frederick (Fred), had enlisted 

only a couple of months before, in May, 1918.  

 

How fearful the family must have now been, for Milton and Fred were the only two boys they 

had had (apart from baby Walter who had died at about 12 months). 

 

 

https://www.newspapers.com/clip/15528309/the-evening-world/
https://www.newspapers.com/clip/15528309/the-evening-world/
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Tom’s wife Caroline (Carrie) Clark (nee Van Pelt) is on the right in this photo. It is believed that the soldier beside 

her is her brother, Frederick (Fred) S. Van Pelt. It’s thought that it was possibly taken c. pre-September 1917 when 

Pte Milton, another of her brothers, sailed with his regiment to France. Photocopied photo courtesy Charles Clark. 

As though all the above were not enough for Carrie to bear, on the 11
th

 October 1918 her 

mother died. Mary Elizabeth Eaton (nee Van Pelt) was “64 years, 5 months and 8 days” old. 

The Death Certificate (below) stated that she had suffered from “diabetes mellitus”, the 

eventual cause of her death, for three years and five months; the contributory factor was 

“diabetic gangrene of the left foot” - duration, one month. She died at home, 430 East 154
th

 

St, Bronx. 
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Death Certificate of Mary Elizabeth Eaton (nee Van Pelt), Tom Clark’s mother-in-law. Died 11 Oct, 1918 

 

 

Mary, Carrie Clark’s mother, was laid to rest in the Woodlawn Cemetery, Bronx, New York.  
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U.S. Fourteenth Census, 15 Jan 1920 – showing Elliot Walker Van Pelt as the head, with his 29 year old daughter 

Caroline (widowed for two years by then) her children Robert, Thomas H, Elliott John, Arline, & Caroline Mildred. 

 

In the 1920 Fourteenth Census of the U.S., State of New York, County of Bronx, Elliott W. 

Van Pelt was listed as the “Head”.  Carrie and her five children were also listed. 

 

Back in Adelaide, Emily Louise Smith, missing any word from Carrie, wrote a long letter, 

dated 12
th

 March 1922, to Tom’s wife. It is the only token that I have of any correspondence 

between Emily and Carrie, other than the photo postcard of Tom and Carrie’s first-born, 

already mentioned.  I am indebted to my second cousin Charles Arthur Clark (Tom Clark’s 

grandson) for sending a copy of this to me. 

 

Below is Charles’ transcript of this 100 year old letter and as I read these words from Emily 

to her late nephew’s wife, life just seems to spring from the page. It’s about the daily 

minutiae of the ordinary lives of ordinary people, without mention of the sad events that must 

have touched her. Her letter paints a panorama of her family’s life in South Australia and her 

interest not only in the US branch of the family but in the world situation. 
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It is the simple, homely writing by this kind woman that brings my great-uncle Tom alive – 

he was good at his work, though not strong; he got on well at school, and his aunt was keen to 

know whether he had gone on to photography. Emily was anxious about the education of 

Tom and Carrie’s children. “Grandfather” Robert loved gardens and flowers. (I have one of 

his delicate flower paintings.) Tom’s brother Herb had had an anxious time on his farm 

during the River Murray floods.  
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Tom’s other brother Will (William Clarence), now had two children, Peggie and Joan Mary. 

And Emily fervently hoped there would never be another war. She mentioned Clarice – 

presumably Ada Clarice Clark, Tom’s sister, whose name appeared on some documents as 

Clarice Ada. And behind the words in her last sentence “Please write soon – we all send our 

kindest love to you all”, we can feel a tangible longing for news from her nephew’s family. I  

have no idea to whom “Rollie” refers in that last line.  

 

Given circumstances that were soon to happen, it is possible that Emily did not hear again 

from the US side of the family. 

 

 

 

                    ************* 

 

 

 

 

 

What led Carrie to have all 

her children baptised on 

the 18
th

 November, 1923? 

Her father, Elliot Walker 

Van Pelt, was now in his 

early seventies – was it 

something she felt obliged 

to do for his sake? Or did 

she have some strange  

presentiment of what was 

going to happen to her? 

 

 

For whatever reason, 

Thomas Hutchinson, Elliot 

John, Arline Elizabeth and 

Carolyn (Caroline) 

Mildred Clark were all 

baptised, listed near the top 

of the page; Robert 

William was the last name 

on the page.  The “Register 

of Baptisms” noted that 

Thomas H. was deceased.  

 

The children were baptised into the Presbyterian Church, 137 Street, between Willis and 

Brooke Ave. 

  

Much more was going to be demanded of Carrie Clark, for on the 2
nd

 January, 1924, she lost 

her first-born child to “valvular heart disease”. Robert William Clark Jr. was stated as being 

12 years old on the death certificate filed 4
th

 January 1924.  



Page 37 of 92 

 

 

His body “was found at 375 East 136
th

 St”. I had gathered from this that the boy presumably 

died at home.  This was borne out when my second cousin Steve Clark wrote to me on the 8
th

 

November, 2018. “According to the story my dad  [Elliot John Clark, Snr] told me, he was a 

'blue baby' (congenital weak heart / heart defect), and when he was sick they sent for a 

doctor, but since they had no money the doctor would not come, and his brother died in my 

father's arms waiting for the doctor to come.” 

 

Heart problems seem to have been a weakness in the Clark family; my great-grandfather 

Robert William died at 63. His son Herb, my grandfather, died at 72. His brother William 

Clarence died very suddenly from a heart attack at 54. Herb’s brother Tom was described as 

“not strong” by his aunt, and his son Robert William Clark Jr. died at the age of only 12. My 

father Robert William (Bill) Clark died at 75 from an abdominal aneurysm. And I have 

medication for atrial fibrillation. 

 

Young Robert was buried at Woodlawn Cemetery on 5
th

 January 1924.  In the space of six 

years Carrie’s ageing parents Elliot and Mary had first together mourned their soldier son 

Milton.   Elliot lost his wife Mary only four months after losing his son-in-law Tom. And 

then Elliot lost his grandson Robert.  

 
Death Certificate of Carrie Clark (nee Van Pelt) (Courtesy Charles Clark) 

 

 

Only about five months after losing his grandson, Elliot had another grief to bear. On 4th 

June 1924 their daughter Carrie died at Lincoln Hospital from “acute appendicitis and 

general peritonitis”. She was laid to rest in Woodlawn Cemetery on the 8
th

 June, 1924. 
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CHAPTER 6 – TOM’S SIBLINGS 
 

Tom’s eldest sister, Emily Olivia Clark born 15
th

 February 1883, never married and died as 

a young woman of only 26 years on the 2
nd

 April, 1909. 
 

When Tom was five years old his sister Ada Clarice Clark was born, on the 18
th

 December 

1890. All I have been able to find out about Ada is that in October 1925 she purchased a 

bungalow style house at 27 Albert Street, Payneham, where she lived for 14 years before 

selling it in December 1939. She remained single all her life, but I understand lived with her 

aunt Emily Louise Smith for many years. Clarice died on 8
th

 July 1962, aged 72 years. I 

received a note from Julie Toner, one of Tom’s brother William Clarence’s grand-daughters, 

saying “I remember visiting Aunt Ada at Nairne or Verdun, as a child. I remember a dusty 

lane leading to an old cottage – there was an old pram kept outside to store firewood”. 
 

Suzanne Laslett, a third cousin descended from the Smith family, wrote to me. “I know Min 

(Emily Louise Smith) lived at Verdun as an old lady, with her niece Clarice. This would have 

been during the early fifties as I stayed with them. I remember Auntie Min as a tiny old lady 

sitting in a chair. “Aunty” Clarice (Ada) was a jolly woman with white hair. I enjoyed my 

stay with them. It was such a sad story about Annie Jane dying. My Nanna used to call in to 

Myer (a city department store) to see her cousin, Bill (William Clarence) who worked there. 

He would have been the baby of the family.”  
 

In a kind of role-reversal, Clarice lived with and cared for her aunt Emily into her old age. 

Emily Louise Smith passed away aged 88 years at Stirling, in the Adelaide Hills. Her 

residence was given as Verdun, a nearby township. 
 

William Clarence Clark was indeed the baby of the family, born 6
th

 January 1893. In his 

early 20’s he married Ellen Jane Maddigan on 12
th

 September 1917 in the Roman Catholic 

St. Ignatius Church, Norwood. The wedding report in the city’s Sunday press noted that Herb 

filled the role of “best man” for his brother. I have only one photo of William, as a young 

man. 

 
“The Mail (Adelaide, SA : 1912 - 1954)  Sat 27 Oct 1917  Page 11  

Family Notices 

WEDDINGS. 

CLARK— MADDIGAN. 

A quiet and pretty wedding was celebrated on Wednesday, 

September 12, at St. Ignatius' Church, Norwood, when Ellen, 

.third daughter  of Mr. and Mrs. J. Maddigan, of Maylands, 

was married to William, youngest son of Mr. R. W. Clark, of 

Maylands. The Rev. Father F. Connel officiated. The bride, 

who was given away by her father, looked dainty in a frock of 

ivory crepe-de-chine with full court train simply fashioned 

with true lover's knots and orange blossom, and carried a 

shower bouquet of white flowers and fern. The trainbearers— 

little Jean and Lorna Maddigan, twin nieces of the bride were 

dressed in white silk and lace frocks, with net caps underlined 

with pink. The bridesmaids were Miss Lottie Maddigan, sister 

of the bride, and Miss Clarice Clark, sister of the bridegroom, 

who both wore coats and skirts of champagne taffeta and tagel 

hats of same colour trimmed with pretty posies and ribbon, and 

each carried a bouquet of lavender flowers, with streamers of same 

colour. The bridegroom was supported by his brother, Mr. Herbert 

Clark, and Mr. Jade Maddigan, brother of the .bride, acted as 
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groomsman. After the ceremony the reception was held at "Crosby House", Dover Street, Maylands. 

Mrs. J. Maddigan, mother of the bride, was gowned in black crepe-de-chine, with smart hat of black 

and white crepe-de-chine. Later in the afternoon Mr. and Mrs. William Clarke left by motor for the 

honeymoon. The bride travelled in a coat and skirt of cream serge and a black aerophane hat 

trimmed with ribbon and posies of blue. Among the guests were:— Mr. and Mrs. W. Maddigan, Mr. 

and Mrs. Martin, Misses Eileen and Kathleen Martin, Mrs. E. O'Callaghan (Crystal Brook), Miss L. 

Maddigan, Miss K. Maddigan. Mr. J. Maddigan, Mr. and Mrs. Hogan, Mr. R. W. Clark, Miss E. 

Smith, Mrs. Garvie, Mr. and Mrs. 3. McAskill, Miss J. McAskill, Mr. S. Sando, Mrs. Burroughs, Mr. 

and Mrs. Ransom, Miss Carrick, Mrs. Head (Huddleston), Miss M. Ryan, and Mr. and Mrs. Phillips.” 

 

Their children were Joan Mary (married Leigh Gryst) and Margaret (married Jim Stevens).  I 

remember, from many years back, these ladies occasionally visiting my mother Pearl Clark. 

 

Unfortunately William Clarence had possibly inherited the Clark heart weakness, for he died at a 

comparatively young age, and his death was noted in the daily paper as follows: 

 

 “Man Dies Suddenly In City 

William Clarence Clark, 55, shop assistant, of Crewe street, Henley Beach, collapsed and 

died in the Myer men's clubroom, Gresham street, city, yesterday afternoon. A report is being 

prepared for the City Coroner Mr. T. E. Cleland.” 
 

Source: The Advertiser (Adelaide, SA : 1931 - 1954), Tuesday 5 August 1947, page 3 

National Library of Australia http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article35991424 

 
 

 

 

And then there was Herbert Hinde Clark, Tom’s loving younger brother. Herb, the eighteen 

year old who had tried to send the photo of himself in his football togs to Tom, pleading for a 

letter that, for whatever reason, never came. I never heard my grandfather mention Tom.  

 

My great-

grandfather Robert 

William Clark(e) 

was not only an 

excellent 

craftsman and 

tradesman, artist, 

building planner 

and designer, but 

also obviously had 

an eye on the 

future. He 

purchased housing 

allotments at 

Hallett’s Cove 

Estate as soon as they were opened up in 1913; one he later sold and the other he passed to 

his son Herbert. He also “placed” his son on a dairy farming “block” in the little town of 

Mypolonga on the banks of the River Murray. Rural production would become a necessary 

occupation during World War I a year later.  

 

http://nla.gov.au/nla.news-article35991424
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c.1950 – Herbert Hinde Clark, my grandfather and retired dairy farmer, on right. 

My father, Robert William Clark (Herb’s son) on left. Emily Louise Smith seated  

outside her home, and the writer, Wendy Baker (nee Clark) aged about age 3. 

 

 

 

The following press clipping from the Observer (Adelaide 1905-1931) dated 18 January 1919 

details the initiative, engineering expertise and wisdom of our great-grandfather Robert 

William Clark(e) and what he did for his son Herb. It also reveals Herb’s community spirit in 

this little town. But I wonder what our great-grandfather’s relationship with his other boys, 

Bill and Tom, was like, as the children grew into their teens. 
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When Steve Clark visited us in 2018, our daughter Valerie took him to Mypolonga. Herb’s 

original farm house and dairy no longer exist. But there amongst rank grass and the now-

silted up back channel they found the bridge – still intact, though sadly no longer needed. At 

almost a century old, it was indeed, as the press had noted in 1919, an “admirable structure”. 
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Steve Clark with the writer Wendy Baker  (L) and her daughter Valerie (R), on the “admirable structure” of our 

great-grandfather’s prefabricated bridge still standing after 99 years in 2018 

Robert William Clark passed away on the 1
st
 

August 1922 at only 63 years. This highly 

respected native of Yorkshire had been promoted 

to the position of Chief Inspector of Factories, 

South Australia, only two years previously.  

Headstone (at Payneham Cemetery, South Australia) of 

Robert William Clark Snr & daughter Emily, daughter 

Clarice Clark, his mother-in-law Sarah, and her daughter 

Emily Louise Smith. Photo courtesy Steve Clark 

Robert’s direct descendants in South Australia, to 

me, were Herbert Hinde Clark who married Ruby Gladys Moore. Their children were Robert 

(Bill) William Clark (my father), and Clarice Lucy Clark. Bill Clark married Pearl Hastwell 

who had two daughters – me and my sister Lyndell, eight years my junior, who has one 

daughter and one grand-daughter. Clarice married Reginald Masters and they had two 
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daughters and a son – my cousin Ian (who gave me much of my information), and Susan and 

Deidre. All in my generation married and have children and grandchildren.  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
CHAPTER 7 – CARRIE’S SIBLINGS 

 

Caroline (Carrie) Van Pelt was one of the ten children born to Mary Elizabeth Van Pelt (nee 

Eaton) and Elliot Walker Van Pelt. Their first-born was Charles Spencer, born 1876, 

followed by a daughter, Cora, born three years later in 1879. Cora died when only 12 years 

old. Her sister Arline arrived in 1882 and Eunice in 1884. Then came Frederick in 1887, 

and Caroline (Carrie) in 1890. Ida Virginia was born the following year in 1891. Two 

children seem to have been born in 1893 – Walter, who died as a baby only a year later, and 

Edna, who died when a two year old. Milton was the last born, in 1897.  

 

Charles Spencer Van Pelt was a three year old on the census - Schedule 1, dated 25
th

 June, 

1880, Inhabitants, County of Hudson, New Jersey. His father Elliot Walker Van Pelt was a 

“druggist’s clerk”, and his mother “kept house”. He was enumerated on the 1885 New Jersey 

State Census in the City of Hoboken, Hudson County, along with his sisters Arline and 

Eunice and their parents. The Twelfth Census of the US (schedule 1 – Population) had no 

record of Charles, but his parents and siblings Arline, Eunice, Frederick, Caroline, Ida and 

Milton were recorded. Elliot, age 47, was a “packer” for a “sauce manufacturer”, and 18 

year old Arline was a “labeller” for a “bottling manufacturer”. 16 year old Eunice was a 

saleswoman (ribbons) and Frederick at 12 years old was a “cash boy”. Caroline (Carrie) and 

Ida were at school and Milton was only two years old. 

 

Charles Spencer registered for military service on 12
th

 September, 1918. According to his 

Draft Registration Card, at 42 years of age he was still tall and slender with brown hair and 

blue eyes. His work as a teamster for B. Cooper Ice Co. at Bond & Turner, Troy Rensselaer 

Left: Herbert Hinde Clark (Tom H. Clark's brother, and Wendy Baker (nee Clark’s) grandfather; Centre: 

Robert William (Bill) Clark (Herb’s son and Wendy’s father); Right: Clarice Lucy Masters (nee Clark), 

Bill’s sister. 
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New York, would have kept him fit. His nearest relative was his mother, Mary Van Pelt (nee 

Eaton). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
                    Charles Spencer Van Pelt - United States World War I Draft Registration Cards, 1917-1918 

 

Charles later married Mary E. Van Slyke (or possibly Van Sylke) (1879 – 1958) and their 

children were Anastasia (1902 – 1988), Virginia F. (1906 – 1960), Charles S. Jr. (1912 – 

1988), and Eben Elliott (b.1901). Charles S. Van Pelt Jr. was registered at age 27 on the 

Sixteenth Census Population Schedule in the state of New York, dated 2
nd

 April 1940, as was 

his wife Marion. She was a “schoolteacher - public school”, and he was a “purchasing agent 

- Insurance” 

 

In the 1905 New Jersey State Census, Charles Spencer’s 17 year old brother Frederick’s 

occupation was “insurance clerk”. Frederick’s WWI draft registration was on 5
th

 June 1917. 

Aged 30 at the time, he was married with one child and was a “Floatman” employed by N.Y. 

Central at 6 Beaver St. From a small amount of research it appears that a “floatman” had the 

task of floating cargo barges on the New York canal system to connect with rail freight. This 

was only four years after the opening of New York Central train station. 

 

 
                               Frederick Van Pelt – United States WWI Draft Registration card 

 



Page 45 of 92 

 

Charles’ and Frederick’s brother, Milton E. Van Pelt, was detailed previously in this story. 

He was a Private First Class, 23rd Infantry Regiment, 2nd Division, at the time of his death 

in action in WWI in France, where he was buried. 
 

 HonorStates.org, on Milton’s military profile, reads “He was a World War I Era casualty on 

July 2, 1918. ★ He served with honor in the United States Army. ★ He is remembered by 

the people of New York ★ May his positive example inspire us, as global 

citizens. ★ When we work together, we can help one another .” 
https://www.honorstates.org/index.php?id=147659  
 

 
            Photo and text from New York Tribune, 1 Sep. 1918, P.2  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Aisne-Marne 

American Cemetery and Memorial 

(American Battle Monuments 

Commission)  

 

 

 

 

 

https://militaryhallofhonor.com/honoree-record.php?id=13527 

 

 
 

 

https://www.honorstates.org/index.php?id=147659
https://militaryhallofhonor.com/honoree-record.php?id=13527
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Citation: “United States, Veterans Administration Master Index, 1917-1940,” database, 

FamilySearch (https://familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3Q9M-C3MH-KQ4K-F?cc=2968245 : 8 

August 2019), image 1 of 1; citing NARA microfilm publication 76193916 (St. Louis: National 

Archives and Records Administration, 1985) 

 

The fourth boy born to Elliot Walker Van Pelt and Mary Elizabeth was Walter, the baby who died the 

year following his birth in 1893. 

 

 

CHAPTER 8 – TOM AND CARRIE CLARk’S descendants 
 

The Van Pelt boys’ sister Caroline (Carrie) Van Pelt was only eighteen years old when she married 

my great-uncle Thomas (Tom) Hutchinson Clark, five years her senior.  

 

Looking now more closely at their five children, the eldest, Robert William Clark Jr, b. 

1911, died from heart disease on the 2
nd

 January 1924 at the age of twelve. 
 

Thomas Hutchinson Clark Jr, b. 1913, appeared on the 1930 US Census as a Lodger-

dependant with William & Theresa Urstadt, Second St, Monmouth, New Jersey. He had not 

attended any school or college since September 1929, the previous year, and he had turned 16 

a month before the Census. His occupation was given as salesman for a grocery chain. 

According to the U.S., Social Security Applications and Claims Index, 1936-2007, Thomas, 

born in Springfield, Massachusetts, passed away on the 24
th

 May, 1992, aged about 79, in 

Orange, Florida. It would have been the day before his and his wife Dorothy Marie (nee 

Joseph)’s 53
rd

 wedding anniversary. Dorothy passed away in 1995, aged about 75-76 years, 

and their memorial plaque is in Woodlawn Memorial Park, Gotha, Orange County, Florida, 

USA.  https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/86554771/thomas-h-clark  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://familysearch.org/ark:/61903/3:1:3Q9M-C3MH-KQ4K-F?cc=2968245
https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/86554771/thomas-h-clark
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 Available provenance as cited by Charles Arthur Clark: 

 

“There is an entry in the Van Pelt family bible, Births:  Thomas Clark – March 5, 1913. 

Also: 

https://www.findagrave.com/memorial/86554771/thomas-h-clark 

Thomas H Clark 

BIRTH 1913 

DEATH 1992 (aged 78 -79) 

BURIAL Woodlawn Memorial Park 

 Gotha, Orange County, Florida, USA 

MEMORIAL ID 86554771 

 

Find A Grave, database and images (https://www.findagrave.com : accessed 9 February 2019), 

memorial page for Thomas H Clark (1913–1992), Find A Grave Memorial no. 86554771, citing 

Woodlawn Memorial Park, Gotha, Orange County, Florida, USA ; Maintained by Sharon Rogers-

Fabris (contributor 47376092) . 

 

Find A Grave, database and images (https://www.findagrave.com : accessed 9 February 2019), 

memorial page for Dorothy M Clark (1919–1995), Find A Grave Memorial no. 86554793, citing 

Woodlawn Memorial Park, Gotha, Orange County, Florida, USA ; Maintained by Sharon Rogers-

Fabris (contributor 47376092) . 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx 

NAME: Thomas Hutchinson Clark 

GENDER: Male 

RACE: White 

BIRTH DATE: 5 Mar 1913 

BIRTH PLACE: Springfield, Massachusetts 

DEATH DATE: 24 May 1992 

FATHER: Thomas H Clark 

MOTHER: Caroline M Vanpelt 

SSN: 128017863 

NOTES: May 1938: Name listed as 

THOMAS HUTCHINSON 

CLARK; 03 Jun 1993: 

Name listed as THOMAS H 

CLARK 

HOUSEHOLD MEMBERS NAME  

Thomas Hutchinson 

Clark  

 

Thomas H Clark  
 

Caroline M Vanpelt  

  

 

about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
about:blank
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The next piece of the jigsaw puzzle, with regard to Robert William Jr.’s and Thomas 

Hutchinson Jr.’s siblings, slotted in neatly, courtesy of Rick Warren. He sent me an email 

attachment showing that on 2 June, 1926, Tom and Carrie’s orphaned children - Elliot John 

(twelve years old) – later to be referred to as Elliot John Sr., Arline Elizabeth (ten) and 

Caroline Mildred (eight) were taken to the Wartburg Orphan’s Farm School by their aunt, 

Eunice W. Lewis.  

 

 

This followed various medical, dental and “mental” examinations which resulted in Elliot and 

Arline being referred to the eye and ear hospital for glasses and chronic otitis of the ear; they 

both had tonsillectomies.  From other records it appears Elliot was evidently bright and good 

at his schoolwork. The children were listed as “free” on their admission documents, due to 

the straitened financial situation of extended family. 

 

 

Wartburg was a Lutheran non-profit children’s home and from correspondence I have seen 

they seem to have been sincere in their concern for these three children’s welfare and well-

being.  

 

 

 
           

The  three Clark children. 

 

1930 Fifteenth US Census - Wartburg Orphans’ Farm, School, Mount Pleasant, Westchester, New York. Showing 

Elliott J. Clark, Arline E. Clark and Caroline M. Clark 
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Wartburg Orphans' Farm School as it would have been 1926-1930 during, it is believed, about the time the Clark 

children (Elliot John Clark Sr, Arline Elizabeth and Caroline Mildred) were resident there. Photo courtesy Kathy 

Craughwell-Varda, Museum Consultant,  vardaconsulting@aol.com sent to Wendy Baker 20 September 2021. 

Arline Elizabeth Clark grew up to marry Robert Bain Tellier. I found online in the US 

School Yearbooks (Source Citation: "U.S., School Yearbooks, 1880-2012) an entry for a 

person of that name, aged about 20, attending Drake University at Des Moines, Iowa, US in 

1937.  

 

In the 25
th

 April 1940 Sixteenth US Census of Population, Robert Tellier was enumerated as 

a Lodger, and Arline as a Lodger’s Wife; it appeared that he had worked a 50 hour week in 

the week preceding the census. His occupation was that of salesman, in the coal industry. 

Robert had worked for 52 weeks in 1939 and earned US$800. Robert was 22, Arline 24, and 

they had a young baby. 

 

 

 

mailto:vardaconsulting@aol.com
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It seems that only a year later, when Robert was 23, he was drafted into the US Army. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Photo -Wikipedia 2022)  

Robert B. Tellier passed away 2 October 1985, aged 67 years, and is buried in the Fort Custer 

National Cemetery, Augusta, Kalamazoo County, Michigan, US. The plot is recorded as 

Section MA, Site 413. 

 

Arline Elizabeth Tellier (nee Clark) remained a widow for 17 years until she passed away 13 

April 2002, aged 85, and is buried in the same cemetery as her husband in Section 6, Site 

488. 
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In March 2022 I received an email from Bill Tellier, (another of Wendy Baker (nee Clark)’s 

second cousins,) and the youngest of the six children born to Robert and Arline. He wrote 

“Arline is the sister of Caroline Clark and the aunt of Carol Ann Rediger.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Arline is in the top row second from right and her husband is in the top row far right. 

Their children are Jeanne Marie Koren, Robert Elliot Tellier, Mary Margret (KC) Satan, 

Deborah Campbell Martinez, Clinton Daniels Tellier and me, William (Bill) Martin 

Tellier. 

 

Robert is in the front row middle; I, William am the little “squirt” to his right, and Clinton 

is to my right. Mary (KC) is top left and Deborah is two right of KC. Jeanne is missing and 

we believe she is in Germany to follow her dancing career.” 

 

 

******************* 

 

 

The youngest of Tom and Carrie’s five children, Caroline Mildred Clark deserves a focus 

on her story and that of her eight children and their families. She was apparently a troubled 

child, probably not surprising given that she had grown up without a father (she was born 

only weeks before he died), and was only six years old when she lost her mother to 

appendicitis. Then becoming resident at the Wartburg Orphans Farm School with two 

siblings, Caroline was discharged from Wartburg in 1936 at eighteen years of age – her aunt 
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Eunice had been urged to take her in at one point but because of her own family and lack of 

facilities, this had not been possible. 
                  

Caroline Mildred gave birth to eight children. On Christmas Day 1947 her son Thomas 

Clark was born. On 19 October 1948, the ten month old baby was adopted by Meyer and 

Clara Warren, a compassionate Jewish couple who changed his name to Richard Jeffrey 

Warren (Rick) – the first of my second cousins in the States who have given me the keys to 

finding out so much more about my great-uncle Tom’s family. Karren is the late Richard’s 

widow; in 2022 she resides in Canton, Ohio.  

 

Caroline Mildred’s son Wayne Clyde Clark was also 

adopted as a baby by Robert Francis Hutchison and 

Mary Hutchison (nee Jackman) who renamed the baby 

John Hutchison.  

 

Caroline Mildred’s daughter Arline Clark was born in 

May, 1938 in the Bronx. Arline lived with her mother 

for a few years and saw the birth of her sister, Kathleen 

Clark. In New York, both girls were surrendered for 

adoption and lived for a short time at the New York 

Children’s Hospital, until they were placed with John 

Hyatt and Katherine Sanders, of Short Hills, NJ.  

 

Kathleen’s name was changed slightly, to Katherine, 

Sanders, and Arline was given a new name, Ruth Ann 

Sanders.  
Baby John Hutchison with his adoptive mother 

 

Ruth’s daughter Carolyn’s understanding is that little Katherine contracted meningitis at 

about two years old and died, leaving Ruth Ann an only child until several years later when 

the Sanders adopted a boy. Although much younger than Ruth Ann, they bonded as siblings. 

The Sanders died in 1964 and are buried together with little Kathy in St Stephen’s Cemetery, 

Short Hills, New Jersey. 

 

Ruth’s daughter Carolyn Stieh Cawthon, in contact with Wendy Baker in 2022, continued 

her story via email:  

 

“Ruth Ann married Ronald W. Stieh of Teaneck, NJ in 1964. His parents were William 

Michael Stieh Jr and Edith Elizabeth Graef Stieh, both of German descent. My sister Kathryn 

Edith Stieh was born in 1965, with me following in 1967 and our brother, William Hyatt 

Stieh in 1968. All of us were born in Hackensack, NJ, but my parents moved to Wyckoff, New 

Jersey, a little further north. 

 

“In 1970 our family moved to St. Petersburg, Florida. At this time, Ruth Ann dropped the 

Ann from her name and started going by Ruth. Ruth became a realtor ... she really loved 

working in real estate and she was very successful. My father, Ron was a stock broker with 

Merrill Lynch. 

 

“My sister, Kathryn Edith Stieh, “Kathy” was a born scientist and went to Auburn University 

in Auburn, AL where she received two Master’s Degrees, and then completed Veterinary 

School to become a DVM ...”  Kathy later “went to work for a company that buys and 
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supports local animal hospitals throughout the US, Canada, Australia, as well as several 

other locales around the world ... in her role she has travelled extensively working with 

animal hospitals around the world.”  

 

Carolyn herself has always had a career in travel, with experience on a cruise ship and in 

retail travel. Carolyn married Michael Maitland Cawthon in 1991 and in 2013 they moved to 

Alabama so that their daughter Jacqueline and later their two sons, William (known as 

Michael), and Donald, could be closer to Auburn University. The two younger children have 

graduated and the eldest, Michael graduated in May 2022. Jacqueline is married and lives in 

Eatonton, GA, and currently the boys are in Alabama. Carolyn and Michael are now in 

Jacksonville, FL, so they are about the same distance to all their family scattered throughout 

Florida, Georgia and Alabama.  

 
Auburn University, Montgomery, Alabama  

 

William (Bill) Hyatt Stieh– 

Carolyn’s and Kathy’s brother - has 

worked in many career fields, and 

held a captain’s licence for a time 

on gambling cruise ships and other 

vessels. Carolyn wrote “Billy is a 

very colourful character; always 

full of stories to tell ... he’s a 

special person, in many ways.”  

 

 

Carolyn’s mother Ruth was a widow for twenty years and, having been “surrendered for 

adoption” she always deeply yearned to know her own family background. After her 

husband’s death she frequently visited family in New Jersey and always went to Atlantic City 

where she could indulge her love of gambling.  

 

As Carolyn wrote “Another irony, to learn that all those times through the nineties when she 

was on the boardwalk in Atlantic City, she was very likely in the midst of her mother and 

sister.” It is sad that Ruth, adopted as a small child, suffered for most of her life the 

emotional struggle of never knowing about her birth mother. 

 

Caroline Mildred later married John O’Zemko 

Jr. (born in 1916) who was a military man when she 

married him in July 1952 at Elkton, Cecil County, 

MD, US. He had enlisted in the US Army as a 

Private, 1
st
 Class on 30 November 1945. Born in 

1916, as a civilian he was skilled in the manufacture 

of electrical machinery and accessories.  

 

John O’Zemko Jr. died six years later in 1958 at Fort 

Devens, Middlesex, Massachusetts and is buried at 

Beverley, Burlington County, NJ, US. He was only 

42. 

 

The widowed Caroline raised, as a single mum 

between 1958 and 1971, her children John 
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Kenneth, Clark and Carol Ann. History, it would seem, was being repeated – bereaved, 

single parents raising their families.  
 

 

I have found baptism records for Clark Ozemko, as a six month old baby, on the 8
th

 

February 1954.  

 

The baptism was in the Simpson Memorial Methodist Church.  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

In November 1971, Caroline Mildred’s son Clark lost his life in a 

car accident in Rumson, New Jersey.  

 

I understand there was another child born to Caroline Mildred, a 

daughter Mary, but as yet I have been unable contact her. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John Kenneth O’Zemko was baptised as a four year 

old on 7
th

 February 1954 by Caroline Mildred and John 

Jr. (his father was also named John). 

 

 

 

 
                                                                                               John Kenneth O'Zemko (Photo: courtesy John K. O’Zemko) 

                                         

Baptism register for Simpson Memorial Methodist Church, showing baptism dates for John and Clark 

Ozemko; the officiating minister was E. Emanuel Burkman. (Birthdates of living persons deleted for privacy) 

. 

Clark Ozemko, 1970 – photo from school 

year book 
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 John married Laura E. Rees in 1987 and their two children were Jayne O’Zemko Stone and 

John C. O’Zemko. Jayne has a son Elwood and John has a son John Dylan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

           

 

 

 
John K. O'Zemko (left), &, Carol Ann Rediger (nee Clark) – half siblings of Rick Warren (born Thomas Clark) 

(centre) – photo courtesy Rick Warren. 
 

Carol Ann Clark, with whom Wendy made contact in 2021, married Anthony Adam 

Rediger in 1975. Carol and Anthony have 2 children, Anthony Clark Rediger and Jana Anne 

Rediger.  Carol wrote that “Anthony is our families’ historian, he is the one that found Rick 

my half brother. Rick In search of his biological mother has given us a lot of family history 

that we were not even aware of.”  
 

Carol Ann and Anthony Adam Rediger’s son Anthony Clark Rediger married Gloria Farng 

and have a little girl Sophia and a boy, Eli. Jana lives with her parents and has three lovely 

little boys – James, John (Bubba) and Jacob. 
 

I have Carol Ann to thank, indirectly, for copies of the pages of the family bible that she had 

been able to send to Rick several years ago and which he, in turn, sent to me. 
 

My great-uncle Thomas 

Hutchinson Clark and his wife 

Carrie (Van Pelt)’s youngest 

child Caroline Mildred 

O’Zemko (nee Clark) died in 

Atlantic City, New Jersey, on 

15
th

 January, 1997 at 78 years; 

her eight children have spread 

her branch of the family tree 

across the States.   

     

     

 
 

 

Caroline is buried in the same cemetery as her husband, in Beverley, 

Burlington County, NJ, US 

 

 

 

************************* 
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At this point I shall leave Caroline Mildred’s part in the story of Tom and Carrie’s 

descendants, and return to Tom and Carrie’s third son - the last of their children to be 

discussed in this story. 

 

Elliot John Clark Sr., was born to Tom and Carrie Clark on the 21
st
 June, 1914 in 

Springfield, Massachusetts. In the words of his eldest son, Charles Arthur Clark (a second 

cousin of the writer of Tom’s story, Wendy Baker) "My father, enlisted in the U.S. Army 

Coast Artillery Corps in 1937 and served overseas during World War II.  He retired at the 

U.S. Army Garrison Fort Ord California in 1960, Combat Experimentation Development 

Command (CEDC).  

 

I was born August 11, 1956 an American Citizen in the American Hospital (U.S. Army 

Hospital) of Paris, Neuilly-sur-Seine, France, at the Supreme Headquarters Allied Powers 

(SHAP).  In 1957 my father was then stationed at the U.S. Army Garrison Fort McArthur, 

San Pedro California, before being assigned to Fort Ord.  After my father’s retirement from 

the Army, the family moved to the East Coast, Arlington Virginia, and then to Washington 

D.C., before returning to the Monterey Peninsula in 1966, Marina/Fort Ord and then to 

Pacific Grove California in 1967." 

 
Elliot John Clark Sr & bride Helen Valaria Wierzbowski, 11 October 1942   

 

Elliot John Clark Sr. wed 

Helen Valeria Wierzbowski 

on the 11
th

 October, 1942 in 

the Roman Catholic Church 

of Saint Stephen, Perth 

Amboy, New Jersey.  

 

Elliot John Clark Sr.’s wife 

Helen was from a Polish 

family. In September 2019, 

Stephen Clark, one of Elliot’s 

sons, wrote of Stephen’s 

mother Helen’s family:- “My 

grandparents (surname 

Wierzbowski) first settled in 

Wilkes Barre, when they 

migrated to the US in 1909. 

 

 

 

“I have the 1910 US Census listing them, and my eldest Aunt, less than a year old - They 

lived on 91 North Sherman Street, Wilkes Barre. Supposedly there was other family in PA. I 

do know of one great Aunt - Michalena Lubiejewski nee Bromirski, married to a Pawel 

(Paul) Lubiejewski. They ended up in Philadelphia, PA. My grandparents didn't stay long - 

by 1915 they had relocated to Perth Amboy, NJ, where there were other family. They lived 

out their lives there”. 

 

A copy of the marriage certificate is included here, courtesy of one of their sons, Charles 

Arthur Clark. 
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Elliot John Clark Sr and Helen Valaria, 1986 - only a  

couple of years before Helen’s death on 28 June, 1988 

 

  

Obituary for Elliot John Clark (1914 – 2001)   

in the Herald. He was thirteen years a 

widower. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    Details courtesy of Charles A. Clark 

 

 

Headstones of Elliot J Clark and Helen his wife in the 

Arlington National Cemetery 
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Elliot John Sr. and Helen had five children. (Coincidentally, this number of children in the 

family seems to keep recurring over generations!)   

 

They were Elliot John Clark Jr., born 1944 in New Jersey; Helen Caroline Clark, born 

1944 in Pt Townsend, Washington; Charles Arthur Clark, born 1956 in France; Stephen J. 

Clark, born 1964; and Robert T. Clark.  

 

 

Elliot John Jr. sadly died as a result of illness. An obituary 

for him reads in part as follows, and gives an account of a 

wonderful life and a celebrated military history: 

 

“CLARK, LTC Elliot J. Jr., U.S. Army (Ret.), age 72, of 

Midlothian, lost his courageous battle with Parkinson's on 

April 3, 2017. He was preceded in death by his son, Matthew 

Brennan Clark. He is survived by his loving wife, Susan 

Clark; daughter, Stephanie; son, Elliot; sister, Helen Johnson 

(Ken); brothers, Robert Clark (Kathy), Charles Clark (Tara) 

and Steven Clark (Faustino); and many other loving in-laws, 

cousins, nieces, nephews, family, friends and co-workers. 

Born in New Jersey in 1944 to parents, Elliot Clark and 

Helen Clark (deceased). Elliot earned his bachelor's degree 

from Mississippi State University in 1967 and married the love of his life, Susan Brennan, in 

1970, in Hartsdale, N.Y. After his graduation, he was commissioned in the U.S. Army as a 

2nd Lieutenant. Among other numerous military awards and honors, he completed Jump 

Master School, Ranger School and Special Forces School. He served his country for two 

tours in Vietnam with the 5th Special Forces Group. He was the recipient of the Purple 

Heart, the Bronze Star and the Meritorious Service Medal. After returning from his second 

tour in Vietnam in 1971, he earned his JD from the University of Mississippi in 1976 and 

completed Judge Advocate General School in 1976. Elliot spent the next 12 years in the JAG 

Corps and retired from the U.S. Army in 1988 after 20 years of service to his beloved 

country. He worked at Magnavox Defense Systems in Indiana as a Defense Contracts 

Attorney for nine years, before joining the Defense Commissary Agency at Ft. Lee, Va., in 

1997, as Deputy Counsel. He practiced law for the U.S. government for the next 17 years 

before fully retiring in 2014. Elliot was an avid gardener who loved nature. He found passion 

in history, geography and classical music. He volunteered his time coaching youth sports and 

was an active member of his church as a Eucharistic Minister. His kind soul touched many 

lives.”  

 

Elliot John Clark Jr. was buried with full military honours in Arlington National Cemetery.  

https://ancexplorer.army.mil/publicwmv/#/arlington-

national/search/results/1/CgVjbGFyaxIHZWxsaW90IBoHam9obiBqcg--/  

https://ancexplorer.army.mil/publicwmv/#/arlington-national/search/results/1/CgVjbGFyaxIHZWxsaW90IBoHam9obiBqcg--/
https://ancexplorer.army.mil/publicwmv/#/arlington-national/search/results/1/CgVjbGFyaxIHZWxsaW90IBoHam9obiBqcg--/
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Elliot John Clark Jr.’s sister Helen Caroline Clark, born at Port Townsend, Washington, 

married Kenneth Ross Johnson born in Alexandria, Virginia on 28
th

 June, 1967 at Ft. Myer, 

Virginia U.S. At the time of their marriage Helen was teaching at McKinley Elementary 

School and Kenneth was 2
nd

 Lt. in the U.S. Army. The Certificate of Marriage  

(Commonwealth of Virginia) on the following page states that the couple were married by 

Joseph S. Chmielewski, a Roman Catholic priest. 
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Charles Arthur Clark was born an America Citizen in the US. Army Hospital of Paris, 

Neuilly-sur-Seine France in 1956 at the Supreme Headquarters Allied Powers (SHAP). 

Charles’ full biography, updated 2022, is published as Appendix No. 1 at the end of this 

work. An extract from his biography reads in part “In 1957 his father was then stationed at 

the U.S. Army Garrison Fort McArthur, San Pedro California, before being assigned to Ford 

Ord. After his father’s retirement from the Army, the family moved to the East Coast, 

Arlington Virginia, and then to Washington D.C., before returning to the Monterey Peninsula 

in 1966, Marina/Fort Ord and then to Paciic Grove California in 1967. 

 

Charles is a graduate of Pacific Grove High School class of 

1974, a member of the PGHS Alumni Association, and the 

Pacific Grove Heritage Society. He attends all of his high school 

class reunions, held every five years. Throughout his high school 

years he worked as a car-parking valet on Cannery Row in 

Montery (made famous by writer John Steinbeck). 

 

His extracurricular activities in exploration and high adventure 

in the great outdoors and coastal marine environment included: 

scouting, camping, hiking, rock climbing, boating, fishing, 

athletics, golf, cycling, martial arts, 4WD off-road driving, 

scuba diving and skydiving. After graduating PGHS Charles 

completed a road trip across the continental U.S. and back to 

California, as well as a driving/camping expedition through the Pacific northwest before 

enlisting in the USAF in 1976.” 

1967 - Marriage Certificate for Helen Caroline Clark & Kenneth Ross Johnson 
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Charles made his first parachute jump at Fort Ord, Fritzsche 

Army Airfield, and received his First Jump Certificate in 1976 

from the U.S. Parachute Association. He participated in static-

line and freefall skydiving jumps. He completed scuba diving 

training from the National Association of Scuba Diving Schools 

in Montery. In 1971 and 1972 Charles earned Lifeguard and 

Swimming Certifications from The American Red Cross at the 

Naval Postgraduate School, Montery. 

 

In 1973 Charles Clark received the Eagle Scout Award and 

earned the Universal Arrow Badge Award in scouting’s honour 

camping society, the Order of the Arrow, and is also a recipient 

of the Arrow-of-Light Lion-Webelos Award. Additionally, he 

served as a Junior Assistant Scoutmaster in Troop 120 Pacific 

Grove. 

 

. 

 
                  7th March 2020 - Air Force Association Awards:  

                                         Charles A Clark (centre) 

                                             

Charles Arthur Clark married Tara Marie 

Clark (not related!) on 15th August, 1981 in 

Reno, Nevada, USA  
 

20
th

 January 2022 - Charles (Left), San 

Diego Chapter, Air Force Association 

In July 2022 Charles advised “I was 

recently elected the Vice President of my 

Chapter, (rebranded) Air & Space Forces 

Association.” 
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Stephen J. Clark, Charles’ brother and eight years his junior, married Faustino and they live 

in California.  As previously mentioned, Steve seized an opportunity to visit the Clark 

descendants in South Australia in October, 2018. The following five photos were taken 

during his visit.          

          

  

 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Steve  Clark with a koala “bear” at Cleland Wildlife Park, South 

Australia in October 2018. 

 

The writer, Wendy Baker (nee Clark), Steve, & Wendy’s daughter 

Valerie Bubner, outside the ruins of Steve’s great-uncle Herbert 

Hinde Clark’s second Mypolonga home.  

 

    

    

    

   

 

 

 

 

Family Tree cake made by Valerie's 

daughter Carmen, (12 years old at the 

time) to welcome Steve to the Clark 

descendants in South Australia. 
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Beachport Railway 

Station, in 2018, now the 

Beachport Bowling Club 

rooms. Tom Clark would 

have known this station, 

& the workshops where 

his father worked. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

John, Wendy's husband, 

with Steve, on the seaward 

end of Beachport jetty in 

2018. Did Tom H. Clark 

embark on a coastal 

steamer from here in 1902-

1903 for an interstate 

overseas departure point 

towards New York? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Robert T. Clark is brother to Elliot John Clark Jr, Helen Caroline, Charles Arthur and 

Stephen J, but as yet I have little information about Robert except that he married Katherine 

and has two children, Erin and Lauren. 
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CHAPTER 9 – THE YOUNGER GENERATIONs 
 

What now of Thomas Hutchinson Clark’s descendants in 2022? 
 

It’s well more than a century now since Tom set foot on North American soil for the first 

time, leaving his homeland and immediate kin thousands of miles away. 
 

But Tom – and his wife Carrie – live on in the DNA and the memories of all his descendants. 

Some of my understanding I have been given by family members in the US, or discovered 

myself through research. In summary, their first child, Robert, died in childhood, as already 

stated. Their second, Thomas Hutchinson Clark Jr, evidently married and had, I believe, one 

child. Their fifth baby and eldest daughter Arlene/Arline, married Robert Bain Tellier and as 

previously described, had six children. 
 

From Tom and Carrie’s third son Elliot John Clark Sr.’s marriage to Helen Valaria 

Wierzbowski came Charles Arthur and Stephen J Clark, the other two second cousins with 

whom I am in contact. Clark, Elliot John Jr. passed away five years ago, leaving his wife 

Susan and three children. 
 

Caroline Mildred Clark, Tom & Carrie’s second daughter and youngest child, gave our 

family eight children. Of these, three were adopted out as babes – Richard Warren (birth 

name Thomas Clark), John Hutchison (birth name Wayne Clyde Clark) and Ruth Ann 

Sanders (birth name Arline Clark). Ruth’s daughter Carolyn and her husband Mike have three 

young-adult children. Rick’s half-sister Carol Ann Rediger (nee O’Zemko) has, in 2022, five 

grandchildren.  
 

What a wonderful spreading of the US branch of the Clark family tree! 
 

Rick and Carol’s half-brother John Kenneth O’Zemko was hospitalised in January this year 

with Covid and pneumonia; Rick emailed me to let me know John was in hospital - he was 

desperately worried about him. Later, he was thrilled to send me an email to tell me medical 

intervention had pulled John through his crisis. 

 
 

2010 - L-R - John K. O'Zemko, Richard (Rick) Warren, Carol Ann Rediger (nee O’Zemko) Photo courtesy Rick 

Warren 

 

But tragically, only about a month later in mid-February 2022, Rick himself passed away in 

hospital from cancer. From here in South Australia I felt the heartache of my extended family 

in the United States. 
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The circle of birth, life and death is infinite. The Clark roots of our families, from that tree 

that grew in a Yorkshire village in England, came across 14,000 miles to Australia, and then 

across another ocean to the USA, that circle goes on. And of course those roots are 

inextricably intertwined with those who came across the seas to the US from Europe, 

growing ever more branches on our tree. And Tom’s branch has indeed spread wide. His 

father Robert William Clark(e) Snr. was only one of eight children born to Thomas and Mary 

Ann in Yorkshire. How far have they all spread? 

 

May all our next generations be truly blessed with the spirit, the initiative and faith in the 

future, which their ancestors possessed. 

 

 

        

        

       

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

     

     

     

     

     

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

       

     

 

         

         

~~~~ooooOooo~~~~ 
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ADDENDUM 1 
 

BIOGRAPHY OF CHARLES A. CLARK (ret) 
 

(GRANDSON OF THOMAS HUTCHINSON CLARK, WHO EMIGRATED TO THE USA FROM 
HIS BIRTHPLACE IN SOUTH AUSTRALIA C.1903)  

 
By Charles a. clark (july 2022) 

 
Charles A. Clark retired in 2012 after 30 years in the aerospace and defense industry. He is 
currently independently engaged in project and resource management. His interests 
includes: Lifelong learning, exploring, education, aerospace and defense, aviation, maritime, 
technology, engineering, science, the arts, history, conservation of resources, good 
stewardship of the environment, self-reliance, community-service, topics concerning the 
military, veterans, and seniors.  
 

Presently, Mr. Clark serves on the Executive Committee of The Brigadier General Robert 
Cardenas San Diego Chapter, Air & Space Forces Association, as the Vice President. 
Additionally, he is a member of the Navy League San Diego Council. He participates in health 
and wellness educational programs at the U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs Healthcare 
System Hospital in La Jolla California.  
 

Mr. Clark has an accomplished career as a Hardware/Mechanical Design Engineer. At 
Lockheed Martin Information Systems & Global Solutions Defense in San Diego California he 
held the position of Hardware Engineer Sr. Staff Lead, in Systems Engineering, on the 
Airborne Maritime/Fixed Joint Tactical Radio System program. Under his leadership, he 
managed and oversaw Subcontractors (Northrop Grumman, Raytheon, BAE Systems, and 
General Dynamics) products development and Supplier Data Requirements List (SDRL) 
deliveries of Hardware Configuration Items (HWCI) and Engineering Technical Data Packages 
to the prime contractor Lockheed Martin.  
 

Before joining Lockheed Martin IS&GS, Mr. Clark’s career encompassed high-technology 
firms: Lockheed Martin Information & Technology Services, Northrop Grumman/TRW, 
Teledyne Ryan Electronics, General Dynamics Electronics (now BAE Systems), Convair and 
Space Systems Divisions in San Diego; as well as security alarm and microcomputer systems 
companies: Radionics in Salinas and Pro-Log Corporation in Monterey California where he 
began his career in drafting, electro-mechanical design, and printed circuit board design in 
1978.  
 

Mr. Clark has participated in numerous military engineering development and production 
programs that includes: AMF – JTRS, the Deep Sea Rescue Vehicle, Avionics & 
Communications, Navigation and Identification (CNI) for the F-22 and JSF-35, the Hunter 
Unmanned Aerial Vehicle, Single Channel Ground and Airborne Radio System, Automatic 
Test Equipment for the F-16 and B-1B, the Atlas Shuttle/Centaur and Ground Launched 
Cruise Missile programs.  
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Raised in the historic city of Pacific Grove located on the Monterey Peninsula of the Central 
Coast of California, Mr. Clark graduated from San Diego State University in 1982, earning a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Arts and Sciences in the College of Industrial Studies and 
Technology. He received honors in Epsilon Pi Tau, the honor society for professional 
technologists. He is a graduate of Monterey Peninsula College achieving Associate Degrees 
in Drafting–Mechanics Technology in 1979 and General Studies 1981. He obtained his 
Lifetime Community College Instructor Credential completing requirements at the 
University of California San Diego – Extensions in 1987. He earned an Associate Degree in 
Real Estate from San Diego Mesa College in 2003.  
 

Mr. Clark is a former member of the original Park Mesa Homeowners Association Board of 
Directors established in 1986 and continues to serves on various volunteer committees 
providing cost effective oversight, advice, and management of community resources to the 
Board of Directors and the HOA’s Management Company. He provides assistance to 
veterans, seniors, and neighbours as need. The Park Mesa HOA consists of 152 
condominium townhomes in San Diego.  
 

Airman Clark is a U.S. Air Force service-connected veteran, post-Vietnam era, 1977. He 
served in the 93d Bombardment Wing, Field Maintenance Squadron (FMS)—Strategic Air 
Command (SAC) at Castle AFB California as a crew member in the jet engine maintenance 
and repair service facility for B-52 Stratofortress Bombers. He completed basic training at 
Lackland AFB Texas and graduated from the USAF School of Applied Aerospace Sciences at 
Chanute AFB Illinois. In technical school he served in the Chanute AFB Honor Guard Riffle 
Drill Team. In 2011 Mr. Clark received the Cold War Recognition from Secretary of Defense, 
Robert M. Gates, for service during the period of the Cold War (1945 to 1991).  
 

Additionally, Mr. Clark is the son of an Army Master Sergeant who in enlisted in the U.S. 
Army Coast Artillery Corps in 1937, his father served 
overseas during World War II, and retired at the U.S. 
Army Garrison Fort Ord California in 1960, Combat 
Experimentation Development Command (CEDC). His 
family and ancestry has a long-history of military 
service.  
 

Mr. Clark’s early life and schooling, he is a natural 
born American Citizen in the American Hospital (U.S. 
Army Hospital) of Paris, Neuilly-sur-Seine, France in 
1956, at the Supreme Headquarters Allied Powers 
(SHAP). In 1957 his father was then stationed at the 
U.S. Army Garrison Fort McArthur, San Pedro 
California, before being assigned to Fort Ord. After 
his father’s retirement from the Army, the family 
moved to the East Coast, Arlington Virginia, and then 
to Washington D.C., before returning to the 
Monterey Peninsula in 1966, Marina/Fort Ord and 
then to Pacific Grove California in 1967.  
 

 
 

Charles, 1960  
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Mr. Clark has life-long ties to the Monterey Peninsula. 
He is a graduate of Pacific Grove High School class of 
1974, a member of the PGHS Alumni Association, and 
The Pacific Grove Heritage Society. He attends all of 
his high school class reunions held every five years. 
Throughout Mr. Clark’s high school years he worked to 
earn a living valet parking cars on Cannery Row in 
Monterey (made famous by John Steinbeck). His 
extracurricular activities in exploration and high-
adventure in the great outdoors and costal marine 
environment included: Scouting, camping, hiking, 
backpacking, rock climbing, boating, fishing, sailing, 
athletics, golfing, cycling, martial arts, 4x4 off-road 
driving, scuba diving, and skydiving. After graduating 
PGHS Mr. Clark completed a road trip across the 
continental United States to the East Coast and back 

to California, as well as a driving/camping expedition through the Pacific Northwest before 
enlisting in the USAF in 1976.  
 

Among Mr. Clark’s young accomplishments, he made his first parachute jump at Fort Ord, 
Fritzsche Army Airfield, and received his First Jump Certificate in 1976 from the U.S. 
Parachute Association. He participated in static-line and freefall skydiving jumps. He 
completed scuba diving training from the National Association of Scuba Diving Schools in 
Monterey. He earned his Lifeguard and Swimming Certifications from The American Red 
Cross in 1971 and 1972 at the Naval Postgraduate School in Monterey. He completed 
training in intermediate swimming, junior and senior courses, in lifesaving and water safety. 
 

 Mr. Clark is an Eagle Scout Award recipient, 1973. He earned the Universal Arrow Badge 
Award in scouting’s honor camping society the Order of The Arrow and is a recipient of the 
Arrow-of-Light Lion-Webelos Award. Additionally, he served as a Junior Assistant 
Scoutmaster in Troop 120 Pacific Grove. He received the Scout Leader Development 
Training Award from the Boy Scouts of America Monterey Bay Area Council in 1982 after 
graduating from SDSU. 
 

Today, Mr. Clark enjoys an occasional round of golf, car camping, amateur photography, fine 
art composition oil painting, tinkering with tools and fixing things. He has a small collection 
of old photographs and paintings of Pacific Grove and Monterey. Additionally, he studies his 
family genealogy, genetics, and history.  

 
_________________ 

Charles, 1974  
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New York Harbor and the Vicious Circle 

of the Winter of 1917–1918 

 
by Gerard Fitzgerald 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

The severity of the extraordinary winter of 1917–1918 in the United States 

remains an important but relatively unexplored chapter of the First World 

War. Beginning in December 1917, and continuing through January and 

February of 1918, a powerful series of unrelenting and formidable ice storms 

and blizzards wreaked havoc across the nation, reaching from as far west as 

Omaha, Nebraska, and as far southwest as Memphis, Tennessee, to the port 

cities of the Atlantic Seaboard, and as far south as Norfolk, Virginia.  

 

 

 

This unprecedented winter onslaught caused civilian food and coal shortages 

in some north-eastern states, coupled with the simultaneous inability to send 

critical logistical support to the Allied war effort on the Western Front. In 

particular, the storms paralysed New York Harbor, the logistical centre for 

support for the war in Europe in the eastern US.  

 

 

A useful historiographic framework for understanding the winter storms that 

incapacitated New York Harbor is Lisa Brady’s analysis of acoustical 

shadows, which conceptualize meteorological phenomena as both historical 

actors possessing agency and also as an extension of Clausewitz’s concept of 

nature as friction to understand the relationship between war and the 

environment. 
 

https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/brearley1914-map-nyharbor.jpg?itok=KQgEaHVV
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Fig. 1. Oceanic traffic leaving New York Harbor was fed by 12 railroads that either loaded 

freight cars on car-floats or offloaded material onto lighters or barges, a time- and labour-

intensive process. More than nine thousand vessels travelled to the harbor each year 

making it one of the busiest, and without question, one of the most inefficient transportation 

hubs in the world. The combination of unprecedented weather and extreme wartime rail 

volume led to congestion and eventual gridlock. 

 

The blizzards and subzero conditions stretching from the Midwest to the 

Eastern Seaboard struck when the American transportation system was 

already in disarray and on the verge of complete collapse because of freight 

car shortages, a national coal shortage, and the mismanagement of east-west 

rail-freight traffic. In short, the national rail systems simply could not handle 

the unprecedented flow of food, munitions, and supplies into East Coast 

ports. On 1 November 1916, railroads experienced a shortage of 115,000 

empty freight cars of various types. Only three months later, in February 

1917, 145,000 freight cars accumulated at eastern points producing increased 

congestion that became self-reinforcing and ultimately led to paralysis across 

the entire national transportation system. Some rolling stock stayed put 

because of various “competing” railroads’ reluctance to ship empty - and 

https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/brearley1914-map-nyharbor.jpg?itok=KQgEaHVV
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therefore revenue free - freight cars back to their point of origin while other 

cars simply became trapped in gridlocked yards and on industrial sidings. 

Once the storms arrived freight cars became frozen in place, which trapped 

others behind them, eventually bringing the system to a standstill. 
 

 
Fig. 2. On 10 August 1917, President Wilson issued an executive order controlling the 

distribution of food and fuel across the United States. The order, approved by Congress, 

allowed him to set a price floor for food and fuel to ensure that farmers received adequate 

revenues despite increased rail rates. With the combined crises of railroad congestion and 

paralysing winter storms, as the chart and analysis show, commodity prices spiked during 

the winter freeze and only dropped once the spring thaw set in and railroad traffic resumed 

some semblance of normal operations. 

 

The railroads and docks of Manhattan were especially susceptible to ice as 

New York Harbor was primarily a lighterage port and relied on a system of 

car floats, barges, and lighters—small ships that transferred small amounts of 

cargo from land to water or from ship to ship—to move freight or coal to 

ships across the harbor or moored in the various rivers and inlets 

surroundings the metropolitan area. The absence of large dockside cranes, 

standard to harbors across the rest of the world, made Manhattan unique, as 

did the absence of any tunnels or bridges allowing freight trains to directly 

enter Manhattan from New Jersey and points south, an infrastructure problem 

that continues to exasperate policy experts today. (See Figure 1) An editorial 

https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/2_8.jpg?itok=ToDxJh11
https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/2_8.jpg?itok=ToDxJh11
https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/2_8.jpg?itok=ToDxJh11
https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/2_8.jpg?itok=ToDxJh11
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entitled “The Real Tug of War” in the 26 October 1917 edition of Railway 

Age Gazette predicted the possible collapse of operations on the Eastern 

Seaboard due to the combination bad weather and infrastructure deficiencies, 

a viewpoint similar to testimony given by the president of the Pennsylvania 

Railroad before the Interstate Commerce Commission in March 1917. 
 

 
 
Fig. 3. The railroads and terminal companies supporting New York Harbor employed more 

than 1,800 vessels including barges and lighters that became trapped in the ice once the 

harbor and river froze. Unable to move, these vessels were unable to supply fuel to 

anchored ships, furthering gridlock in the harbor and eventually leading to a complete 

shutdown. 

 

Once the Hudson River became choked with ice, it became impossible for 

lighters and barges to coal ships that lay at anchor, and the merchant fleet 

soon became as immobile as the surrounding rail yards. In time, the 

movement of railroad rolling stock by car-floats, barges, and the transfer of 

coal to barges between New Jersey, Staten Island/Port of Richmond, 

Brooklyn, and New York City completely stopped (see Figure 3). As the 

storms continued, paralysis on both land and sea made the loading of cargo 

for the Western Front all but impossible. In addition, coal from southern 

mines was also unable to reach New England cities. Dr. Harry A. Garfield, 

the leader of the US Fuel Administration, explained the situation as follows: 

“At tidewater the flood of freight has stopped. The ships were unable to 

complete the journey from our factories to the war-depots behind the firing 

line … The wheels were chocked and stopped, zero weather and snow bound 

trains; terminals congested; harbors with shipping frozen in; rivers and canals 

impassable …” (Railway Age, 199.) 
 

https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/frozen_harbor_railway_age_jan-june_1918.jpg?itok=S5AKpzOZ
https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/frozen_harbor_railway_age_jan-june_1918.jpg?itok=S5AKpzOZ
https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/frozen_harbor_railway_age_jan-june_1918.jpg?itok=S5AKpzOZ
https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/frozen_coal_railway_age_jan-june_1918.jpg?itok=4lWJfkoo
https://www.environmentandsociety.org/sites/default/files/styles/popup/public/thumbnails/image/frozen_harbor_railway_age_jan-june_1918.jpg?itok=S5AKpzOZ
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Fig. 4. Steam lines inserted into coal hoppers were used to thaw loads so they could be off-

loaded to barges to supply anchored vessels with fuel to leave the frozen harbor. 

 

In response to these conditions, President Woodrow Wilson nationalized 

American railroads and various riverine and coastal transportation systems 

on 26 December 1917 using the Army Appropriations Act of 1916. Wilson 

appointed William McAdoo, the first Director General of the Railroads, two 

days later, and McAdoo quickly found himself and the national 

transportation system unprepared for three months of historic winter storm 

systems. McAdoo noted: “The harbors on the Eastern Seaboard were 

crowded with ships that could not depart … on account of a lack of coal … 

the coal could not be brought to the ports because of the congestion on the 

railroads. Things were moving in a vicious circle.” (457) The simultaneous 

collapse of both rail and river freight movement temporarily brought the 

harbor to a standstill. 

 

In early spring, as the weather stabilized, strict military mobilization 

timetables were re-established but not before convincing transportation 

leaders that the lifeline to the Western Front was susceptible to breakdown 

due to infrastructure weaknesses. Events in New York Harbor illustrate the 

power of weather to stymie large technological systems and the usefulness of 

examining a military-logistics crisis through an environmental lens. 

________________ 
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Addendum 3 
 

LETTER WRITTEN BY EMILY LOUISE SMITH, in south Australia, TO 
CARRIE CLARK in new york 

(Transcript of this letter is on page 35) 

 
Dated 12 march, 1922 

 

By courtesy of Wendy Baker’s first cousin Ian Masters, of Mildura, Victoria.  

 

    2. 

 

 
 

 
           Emily Louise Smith (1863 – 1951) as an old lady, c.1950.  
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The long, quite revealing letter, from the spinster aunt in Maylands, Adelaide, South 

Australia (she previously lived in Beachport) who raised her dead sister’s five children, 

including her nephew Thomas Hutchinson Clark, to Caroline Clark (nee Van Pelt), 

mother of “Aunty Em’s” 5 great-nephews and nieces. Unfortunately the notepaper 

would have been thin and in the photocopying process, the writing “bled” through from 

the other side. This is why, for clarity, only the transcription appears in the main story. 
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_________________ 
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ADDENDUM 4 
 
 

THE STEAMSHIP GARONNE  
 

by   

 
steve clark 2012 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
SS Garonne - SA Maritime Museum  

 
Please continue on to read Steve’s wonderful article ... 
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